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Chairman’s Statement 
 

 

I am pleased to report that the Society has 

continued to support its Members, despite a 

very challenging and difficult year. 

The Society has also met all its Statutory  

and Regulatory obligations. 

 

Following from where we left in 2020, the Society began 2021 with its usual full commitment to 
our Members both for their savings’ requirements and more importantly their financial 
protection at their time of need. 

As Covid-19 continued to test the world population and global economy, your Society remained 
committed to continuing to support its Members.  The pandemic rate of infections seemed to be 
slowing down at the beginning of 2021, mainly due to the successful vaccine roll out, then we 
saw the spread of first the Delta variant and subsequently the more infectious Omicron variant. 
These brought with them yet more restrictions and economic uncertainty.  I am pleased to report 
that with our staff continuing to work from home, the Society continued to deal with Members’ 
enquiries and claims efficiently as they had done in 2020. 

The Board of Management (the Board) continued its work towards achieving the objectives it has 
set for the Society, meeting several times during the year.  On 23 November 2021, the Board met 
to review the Society’s objectives over the next five years and discussed various strategies in 
order to move the Society forward as well as other important issues such as regulatory matters, 
operational challenges and Climate Change. 

With fluctuations in the financial markets and rising inflation, I am pleased to report the Society 
met its objective of long-term stability by maintaining its financial resilience through continual 
review and management of its risks.  The Society achieved positive investment returns in 2021 
considering the lingering pandemic and price hikes. Despite experiencing increased sickness 
claims and reduction in new business, due to restrictions from the impact of the pandemic, the 
Society’s assets grew during 2021 resulting from favourable returns on investment and prudent 
management of operational expenditure. 

The Society’s strategic focus has always been on maintaining financial and operational resilience. 
Through its annual self-assessment exercise, the Board maintains an understanding of the 
Society’s principal risks, the financial impact of those risks and the actions that need to be taken 
to strengthen the Society’s resilience.   

“ 

“ 
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As I pointed out earlier, Covid-19 continued to impact the Society’s Members. Whilst the number 
of deaths reduced, sadly another 9 Members lost their battle against the virus in 2021.  On behalf 
of the Board, I would like to express my condolences to the families and friends of all the 
Members that passed away regardless of the reason. As in the previous year, the Society’s Board 
continues its commitment to honour all Covid-related sickness claims as long as supporting 
medical evidence is provided.  I am pleased to report the number of Covid-related sick claims was 
lower than the previous year due to vaccinations and booster jabs.   

During 2021, the Society provided its Members with access to its products through direct 
mailshots and its website.  As restrictions eased in the summer, a large number of transport 
employees, having been furloughed during the pandemic, returned to work and access to 
transport operators’ sites was granted to our staff at some locations.  The Society was therefore 
able to resume offering its products and services to its Members and potential new Members in 
several regions within the country resulting in increased new business during the second half of 
the year. 

I am also pleased to report the Society continues to monitor and implement regulatory changes 
as and when required and confirm it successfully met all its statutory and regulatory obligations. 
In addition, the Society continues to comply with the requirements of the Senior Managers & 
Certification Regime (SM&CR) and in relation to the Certification Regime, as with the Senior 
Managers, all Members of staff continue to comply with the regulators’ Conduct Rules as per 
their Statement of Responsibilities. 

As reported last year, the Board considers sustainability to be very important and takes seriously 
the impact climate change is having on the planet and people. The Society is conscious of its 
wider social responsibilities and is taking measures to reduce its carbon footprint and to achieve 
net zero emissions in proportionate and cost-effective ways. The Board continues to monitor and 
review the plan the Society has developed to mitigate and manage the financial risks associated 
with climate change and to comply with the regulators’ requirements.  

I am happy to report that Mr Peter Rudyk, the Society’s previous Chief Executive Officer, was 
elected to the Society’s Board in June 2021 offering his experience of many years in the Financial 
Services industry.  

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our Members for their continued support of their 
Society and welcome those Members who joined us in 2021. I would also like to convey, to our 
staff, the Board’s full appreciation for their loyalty and support during these challenging times. 

Let us hope for a less difficult year in 2022. 

 

Peter Brown 

Chairman 

7 April 2022 
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Chief Executive’s Report 
 

 

2021 has been a challenging year for the world  

and the Society dealing with the continuing  

effects of Covid-19 and I am delighted to report  

that the Society has been there to support our  

Members during difficult times. 

 

The Society began the year with continued uncertainty of when the impact of the Covid pandemic 

was going to reduce and return some normality to the world’s population and end the disruption 

it had caused.  First the Delta variant early in the year and then ending the year with the more 

infectious yet less virulent Omicron variant.  Despite the challenges, I am pleased to report that 

the Society had another fruitful year delivering growth in assets which was mainly achieved 

through positive investment returns and a slight reduction in operating expenses.   

The pandemic continued its impact on the Society and our Members, however, its effects were 

less severe than the previous year.  Covid-related claims followed a declining trend following the 

successful roll out of the vaccination programme and subsequent booster jabs.  Membership and 

new business, which had dramatically decreased during 2020 and the first half of 2021, began to 

increase as restrictions were gradually lifted at some bus operators’ locations during the second 

half of the year, re-instating access for the Society’s Development team.  As a result, Member 

numbers started to show a modest increase and new business income exceeded the forecasted 

target reflected in the Society’s Business Plan which had been kept under continuous review 

throughout the year whilst monitoring the pandemic’s behaviour. 

Serving our Members remains the Society’s highest priority and I am very proud to report that 

the Society’s staff continued their excellent work during the year. The Administration team dealt 

tirelessly with Members’ enquiries and processing claims whilst working from home and their 

efforts continued after they had resumed working from the office from July.  Equally, having 

returned from furlough in July, the Society’s Development Managers fully engaged to provide 

new and existing Members with the Society’s products and services. My special appreciation and 

gratitude to our loyal Members for being patient and supportive during restrictions and while 

our staff were working from home.  

“ 

“ 
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As I reported last year, the Society is committed to improving sustainability and is conscious of 

the financial risk from the impact of climate change. The Society has already started taking 

positive measures in order to meet the UK’s target of achieving net zero emissions by 2050.  As 

part of these measures and the Board’s objective of providing Members with suitable products, 

the Society expanded its product range by introducing its new ‘green’ World Friendly ESG Stocks 

and Shares ISA and Junior ISA offering medium and higher risk investment options. Both funds 

aim to increase exposure to companies with a favourable Environmental, Social and Governance 

(ESG) profile, while decreasing investments in companies with a lower ESG score.     

 

Investment in new technology and upgrading the Society’s Administration system continued 

during the year. Once fully implemented, the new system will enable the Society to provide a 

more efficient and professional customer service and facilitate the appropriate tools to help the 

Society reduce its carbon footprint by communicating via electronic means hence cutting down 

consumption of paper.  Additional new IT solutions are planned to be introduced in the near 

future to facilitate the Society’s objective of moving towards a paperless office in the longer term.  

 

 

New Business Income  

New business income increased by 70.4% in 2021 compared to 2020.  Despite a decrease from 

£709k achieved in the whole of 2019, £513k of new business in a difficult year is quite pleasing 

particularly when access to the Society’s usual market was only available for 5 months of the year 

due to restrictions. 
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Number of Members 

As I mentioned previously, Covid-19 made an impact on the number of Members.  Unfortunately, 

like any other business, the transport industry suffered from the impact of the pandemic.  A large 

number of employees were either furloughed or left the transport industry and moved into other 

sectors.  This led to some Members terminating their policies and leaving the Society. As a result, 

the number of Members reduced to 21,574 in 2021 compared to 22,973 at the end of 2020, a 

decrease of 6.1%. 

 

 

 

Net Earned Premium Income  

Premium Income dropped to £2,988k as at the end of 2021 compared to £3,461k the previous 

year representing a decrease of 13.7%. The average contribution per member reduced from 

£150.65 per annum at the end of 2020 to £138.50 at the end of 2021, a reduction of 8.1%. 
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Net Operating Expenses  

The Society’s operating expenses decreased slightly by 1.6% to £1,865k in 2021 compared to the 

previous year of £1,895k.  However, due to drops in Membership and new business, for reasons 

I explained earlier, the Society’s net operating expenditure to contribution income ratio 

increased from 54.75% in 2020 to 59.19% in 2021. The Board considers supporting our Members 

and the quality of service they receive as extremely important and regularly monitors expenses 

incurred in the overall running of the Society’s affairs to ensure Members’ funds are spent 

efficiently. The business processes continue to be reviewed and, where appropriate, enhanced 

to ensure a quality service is provided in a safe and secure environment with the aim of 

controlling expenses, where appropriate.  
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Claims  

Despite a reduction in the number of Covid-related claims, the pandemic continued to make an 

impact on the Society. During 2021, the Society paid out sickness claims of £1,485k compared to 

£1,762k in 2020 which included around £204k of Covid related claims (£543k in 2020). At the end 

of 2021 the total claims paid by the Society was £2.99m including death benefits, policy 

maturities and surrenders; and also discretionary grants, an increase of 12.4% compared to 

£2.66m paid in 2020. By the end of December 2021, the Society had paid £801k of benefits, 

including approximately £58k of death benefits, for Covid related claims since the pandemic 

started. The discretionary benefit claims increased from £95.5k in 2020 to £123.3k in 2021. 

The Society continues its commitment to its Members at their time of need and has so far 

accepted 99% of all Covid related sickness claims including those self-isolating and showing 

symptoms as long as supporting medical evidence is presented.  

 

 

Figures exclude unit-linked claims 
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Investment 

The financial markets started the year with a degree of volatility due to the United Kingdom 

formally exiting the European Union, a new president in the White House and a new variant of 

the Covid virus. However, after the first quarter the equity markets began to perform positively 

until the fourth quarter. A number of events mainly the temporary shortage of fuel and spread 

of the Omicron variant of the Covid-19 virus as well as the gradual rise in inflation toward the 

end of the year caused a decline in the positive gains achieved during the year and ending with a 

net return of 5.6%. 
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Climate Change 
 

Background 

The PRA's Supervisory Statement SS3/19 relating to climate change risk required the Society to 

have an implementation plan in place by October 2019 and the CEO letter dated July 2020 on the 

same topic stated that firms should have fully embedded their approaches to managing climate-

related financial risks by the end of 2021.   

The PRA recommended that firms use the guide produced in June 2020 by the Climate Financial 

Risk Forum (CFRF), which is co-chaired by the PRA and FCA, on how to approach climate 

disclosure, risk management, scenario analysis and innovation to assist in meeting the PRA’s 

supervisory expectations.   

 

Process 

1. Proportionality 

As a smaller firm the Society has focused more on a qualitative strategy for adapting to climate 

change without as much need for quantitative metrics to substantiate the approach. 

When undertaking scenario analysis, the Society has considered a possible sequence of events 

resulting from climate change, for example an extreme weather event, before moving on to 

quantification.  

2. Governance 

Climate management information is actively discussed at Board level on a regular basis. 

The Society’s approach is that there needs to be a clear distinction between the elements of 

climate change namely financial risk, reputational risk and the issue of corporate social 

responsibility. 

The Society is considering the impact, both positive and negative, of climate change on its 

business strategy.  This will partly be achieved by clearly categorising assets subject to climate 

risk and considering associated strategic options, for example, improving sustainability or by 

considering the Society’s role in supporting its suppliers to meet the UK’s target to achieve net 

zero emissions by 2050.  The Board has held and intends to hold further meetings with its 

investment managers to discuss this. 
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3. Risk Management 

The Society has embedded climate risk within its risk management framework in order to 

identify, measure, monitor, manage and report on its exposure to climate risks against its risk 

appetite statement. 

Both physical and transition risks arising from climate change are considered and will be tracked 

over the longer term. 

 

The Society’s Climate Change Plan contains the following: 

• an explanation of significant climate risks 

• a description of how assets are classified for climate risk, for example using geographic, 

sectoral or other characteristics 

• an understanding of what climate risk means for regulatory capital 

• action plans to quantify and mitigate climate risk on a regular basis 

 

4. Scenario Analysis 

The Society is developing a proportionate and integrated approach to scenario analysis following 

the guidance that has been issued.  

The Society’s March 2021 Forward Looking Assessment of Solvency (FLAS) looked at the following 

two initial scenarios: 

• Moderate global warming of 2 degrees centigrade in average temperatures (moderate 

warming scenario) 

• High global warming of 4 degrees centigrade in average temperatures (high global 

warming scenario) 

Both transition risks and the initial financial risks were considered and covered both short-term 

(business planning horizon) and long-term (in the order of decades). 

 

5. Disclosure 

From 2022 the Society will publish climate risk disclosures within its annual report. 

The disclosures will follow the TCFD (Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures) 

framework which includes the following: 

• Governance 

The Society will continue to disclose the governance around climate-related risks and 

opportunities. 

• Strategy 

The Society will disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and 

opportunities on the Society's businesses, strategy, and financial planning where material.  
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• Risk Management 

The Society will disclose the processes used to assess and manage climate-related risks. 

• Metrics and Targets 

The Society will disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-

related risks and opportunities. 

 

 

Progress to date 

The Society has a Climate Change plan which is reviewed by the Compliance and Risk Assessment 

Committee and Board training relating to climate change has commenced.  Several webinars on 

this topic have been available and climate change was one of the agenda items for the Board’s 

Strategy Day held in November 2021. 
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Covid-19 and its impacts on the Society 
 

 

The Covid infections continued to rise in 2021 with the discovery of more infectious variants of 

the virus, leading to continued restrictions on everyday activities.   The Society’s new business 

income continued to suffer as access restrictions to bus and coach operators’ sites were 

extended. It was encouraging to see that the government’s vaccination and booster programme 

had a positive effect by reducing the severity of the symptoms in those Members of the public 

that had been vaccinated. 

Sadly, the Society lost a number of its Members due to Covid-19 in 2021 and our thoughts are 

with their families and friends.  

 

Impact on level of claims 

In 2021, the Society continued to pay Covid-related sickness claims but the volume of these was 

lower than similar claims in 2020. 

Future risks from the virus are that unfortunately, more variants of the virus may appear leading 

to increased sickness claim numbers and prolonging the recovery period. 

 

Impact on assets 

Looking back at 2021, the financial markets’ direction at the start of the year continued to be 

very much dictated by developments with regards to Covid-19.  However, following the 

successful vaccine rollout, investors began to look to a post-pandemic future and towards the 

end of the year, markets had become much less sensitive to virus-related news flow.  That was 

until the onset of the new Omicron strain which led to a renewed bout of market volatility at the 

start of the festive period in December 2021.  

Despite the fluctuations in the financial markets and rising inflation, the Society’s assets grew 

during 2021. 

 

Impact on liquidity 

Despite the continuing impact of Covid-19, the Society maintained its strong capital position with 

minimal impact on its liquidity. 
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Impact on Operations 

The Society’s primary aim is to service its Members and it is pleasing to note that irrespective of 

whether the staff were working from home as in the first half of the year or from the office in the 

second half of the year, the staff continued to service the Society’s Members in an efficient 

manner and to a high standard.   

The Society continued to receive premium payments either via direct debit or payroll deduction 

arrangements and processed same. 

 

Impact on New Business 

Membership and new business, which had dramatically decreased during 2020 and the first half 

of 2021, began to increase in the second half of the year as restrictions were gradually lifted at 

some bus operators’ locations, thereby re-instating access for the Society’s Development team.  

As a result, Member numbers started to show a modest increase and new business income 

exceeded the forecasted target reflected in the Society’s Business Plan which had been kept 

under continuous review throughout the year whilst monitoring the pandemic’s behaviour. 

 

Investment Returns 

Following regular consultations with its advisors, and prudent management, the Society 

continued with its strategy of investing a larger part of its assets into Equities and it was pleasing 

to note that positive returns were once again achieved. The Board continues to monitor the 

situation and holds regular discussions with its Investment Managers and Actuary to assess the 

best course of action and whether the strategy needs to be adjusted in any way. 

 

Impact on Going Concern 

Even if the virus were to materially increase sickness and life claims during 2022, reduce new 

business during 2022 and 2023 and severely impact future investment returns, the Society 

remains well capitalised in the short to medium term.  
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Business Review 
 
 

 

The Society’s primary objective remains welcoming new Members to the Society and ensuring 

the interests of all existing Members are best served by continuing to provide all Members with 

excellent customer service and suitable and affordable products that meet their needs.  To 

achieve this, the Society continues to follow the business model adopted by the Board of growth 

in new business and providing Members with appropriate benefits and services.  

 

The Society’s Development Managers continue to provide information relating to the Society’s 

products and services to the passenger transport employees.  They also provide support to a 

network of Ambassadors who are employees of the passenger transport companies, most of 

whom are Members of the Society.  Ambassadors distribute information relating to the Society 

and its products at their place of work. 

 

The team of Development Managers, consisting of two Senior Development Managers and four 

Development Managers, returned to work from furlough in July 2021. The Society received £108k 

in Government support scheme relating to Covid-19.  Since their return, the Development team 

have continued to offer the Society’s products and services to existing and new Members. The 

Society continues to retain geographical presence within Greater London, Essex, East and West 

Midlands, West and South Yorkshire, Lincolnshire, the South and the South-East of the country, 

however, access to some of these locations was restricted during the pandemic.  With the easing 

and eventual lifting of these restrictions, the Society will continue its efforts to consolidate in the 

same regions and resume its strategy to expand beyond its existing geographic boundaries to 

support passenger transport employees within those areas.  

 

Since its revamp in 2018, the Society’s website has been further upgraded to provide more useful 

information relating to the Society’s products and services including purchasing new income 

protection, savings and investment plans and submitting sickness, health cash plan and 

discretionary claims.  Further enhancements are planned to provide additional tools and features 

and added efficiency. The website also features useful and appropriate blogs providing 

informative material on various topics. 
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A series of advertising campaigns was initiated using various social media platforms to continue 

to promote the Society’s brand.  Facebook, Linked-In and Twitter were used to advertise the 

Society’s brand in selected cities in the United Kingdom.  Further work is planned on this initiative 

to provide awareness of the Society and its offerings to passenger transport employees. 

 

The work of development of a new Administration system continues.  This project commenced 

in 2019 and is progressing well, albeit with a slight delay, but still due to complete in 2022.  This 

new computer system, once completed, will provide the Society’s staff and management with 

new improved functionality and more efficient processes.  Later in 2023, the new system will also 

facilitate direct access by the Society’s Members to purchase new products and update their own 

policy details online. The Society believes this new system, integrating with the Society’s website, 

will improve the service the Society provides to its Members, leading to a paperless office and a 

reduction in operating expenses in the longer term.  
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Key Risks and Performance Indicators 
 

 

 

The Board has identified a number of key risks to the Society. Whilst the financial impact from 

the Covid-19 pandemic continues, albeit reduced following the successful vaccination 

programme, other risks include increase in sickness claims beyond the level the Society would 

reasonably expect to get, a significant increase in operational costs and expenses, poor longer-

term investment returns, consistently poor new business results, climate change and cyber 

threats.  

The Board has developed and continually reviews its Management Action Plan which outlines the 

actions the Society’s management would carry out as a reaction to adverse experience which 

would impact the Society’s business and Members. 

As in all businesses, the Society must assess, monitor and manage risks which could adversely 
impact the Society’s sound financial position.  The Society operates within a cautious to medium 
risk range overall. The Society’s lowest risk appetite relates to operational and regulatory risk 
matters, with a higher risk appetite towards insurance and marketing risks. This means giving 
priority to financial stability and customer service while maintaining steady growth over other 
business objectives. The Board continues to carry out robust assessment of the principal risks of 
the Society, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity. 

The Board is mindful of remaining operationally and financially resilient by assessing and 
mitigating internal and external risks. Operationally, the Society invoked its business continuity 
plan to successfully enable its Administration team to work from home from the first lockdown 
in March 2020 with very little operational disruptions.  The team returned to the office on a full-
time basis from July 2021 and, unless conditions dictate otherwise, will continue their work from 
the office whilst hybrid working options remain in place. Work is in progress to implement further 
measures, including enhanced security capabilities to manage the risk of cyber-attacks, to ensure 
financial protection of our Members and staff; and the Society remains operationally resilient.  

The Society’s Investment Managers follow an investment matrix which is approved by the Board 
following consultation with the Society’s advisors. This matrix is continually monitored to ensure 
it is not breached. After rapid reduction in nearly all financial assets in March 2020 and before 
recovery followed, the Board, in consultation with its advisors and after careful consideration of 
the risk exposures and its relatively strong financial position, took advantage of the opportunity 
to increase its equity exposure to 52% in July 2020 and varied between 55% and nearly 60% in 
2021 depending on prevailing market conditions. This resulted in more favourable investment 
returns. The Board continues to monitor the investment markets and whilst the Society currently 
operates within a cautious to medium risk range, it would be prepared to modify its risk strategy, 
consideration being given to the recent energy crisis, high inflation, rises in interest rates and 
other economic changes.   
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The Society is not directly exposed to risks arising from the Ukraine crisis because the Society’s 
business is based in the United Kingdom. The crisis does heighten some of the existing risks that 
the Society currently manages and proactively monitors as part of its strategic objectives. 
Without mitigating actions, these risks can increase the Society’s liabilities for its long-term 
business provisions. These risks are summarised below: 

a) The investment markets can remain volatile due to disruption to global economic activity; 
b) There is a risk of lower consumer confidence and lower consumer affordability due to the 

impact of the crisis on prices of basic commodities such as food and energy. This can 
increase uncertainty over the volume of new business and lapses on existing policies; and 

c) Increased risk of cyber-attacks targeting the UK financial services sector. This can disrupt 
the Society’s operational activities if any attacks bypassed the Society’s security systems. 

The Board will continue to monitor the events as they happen and will make the necessary 
actions to mitigate any risks of financial deterioration. 

The Board is conscious of the impact climate change is having on the planet. The Society has 
developed a climate change plan, which is kept under review, and has already made some 
operational changes to reduce its carbon footprint. The Society has and will continue to use 
scenario analysis and stress testing techniques to measure the impact of the financial risks from 
climate change on its business model and further measures will be incorporated in its governance 
and management processes to mitigate risks in a proportionate and cost-effective manner. 

The Society does not write business outside the United Kingdom and therefore does not have 
currency exchange rate exposures except those relating to investments.  

Following BREXIT, the Society continues to monitor the number of Members including Child Trust 
Fund Members who, are currently residing in the EU countries, as the Society may lose its right 
to service those Members. 

In relation to the level of sickness claims, the number of claims and benefits are expected to 

continue to increase in 2022 as the backlog of the non-pandemic related sickness cases are dealt 

with. Covid claims will continue but are expected to reduce, however, the Board is conscious of 

a future variant of the virus and its financial risks.  The Board continues to monitor this specific 

risk very closely and is prepared to take appropriate management action should this be needed. 

The Society’s operating expenses slightly reduced during in 2021, however, the ratio of premium 

income to operating expenses increased.  The Board continues to monitor and control operating 

expenses in order to improve this ratio whilst maintaining the Society’s agreed standards and 

service levels. 

The Board receives regular management information which includes performance monitoring in 

all of these areas and is prepared to take action should it be deemed appropriate. 
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Assets 

At the end of 2021, the Society’s assets remained more than adequate to maintain Members’ 

benefits. 

 

Margin of solvency 

The Society had at 31 December 2021 the required margin of solvency as prescribed in the 

relevant Regulations. 

 

Indemnity insurance 

The Society is required by law to indemnify its Board, Officers and Staff against certain liabilities 

as detailed in its Rules. A policy of insurance is in force to cover such indemnity and associated 

liabilities. 

 

Cyber liability insurance 

A policy of insurance is in force to cover cyber liability. 

 

Activities 

Your Board did not carry out any activities during 2021 which were outside its powers. 
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Performance summary for 2021 and comparison with previous years 

The table below summarises some of the key performance indicators for 2021 and the previous 

4 years. 

 

Additional KPI’s include investments and investment returns, claims and benefits paid and 

technical provisions disclosed in the Chief Executive’s report on pages 12 and 13. The technical 

provisions are further discussed in Note 22. 

*Contribution income excludes all income received for the unit linked accounts, so all 

contributions to these are accounted for through the balance sheet in line with industry standard 

practice. During 2021, the Society received approximately £191,000 (2020: £173,000) into the 

Child Trust Fund and £166,000 (2020: nil) into the ISAs. The Society receives a management 

charge of 1.5% of the value of the unit linked accounts per year which covers the cost of 

administration. 

Membership and recruitment 

The following table shows the number of new contracts effected in 2021 compared with 2020. 

Section 2021 2020 

Endowment 294 279 

Sickness 984 902 

Hospitalisation 50 49 

Health Cash Plan 32 20 

Endowment (Junior) 127 170 

ISA 206 - 

Junior ISA 7 - 

CTF Protected Accounts* 548 149 

* These are transfers from maturing CTF accounts.  

 
Year 

Net Earned 
Contribution 
Income 
£’000* 

Increase over 
Previous Year 
% 

Net 
Operating 
Expenses 
£’000 

Increase/ 
decrease Over 
Previous Year 
% 

Net 
Operating 
Expenses/ 
Contribution 
Income Ratio 

2021 2,988 (13.7) 1,865 (1.6) 0.62:1 

2020 3,461 9.2 1,895 5.3 0.55:1 

2019 3,170 6.4 1,799 16.6 0.57:1 

2018 2,980 3.7 1,543 1.6 0.52:1 

2017 2,874 10.3 1,519 (1.3) 0.53:1 
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A summary of the movement in Membership in 2021 compared with 2020 is shown in the 

following Table. It is important to note that due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Society did not 

demand contribution arrears from Members who had fallen behind on the payment of their 

policy premiums due to the difficult circumstances they may have found themselves in. The 

number of Members has decreased in 2021 as some Members left the industry and some others 

were unable to clear their arrears once the impact of the pandemic reduced. 

Number of Members                    2021                   2020 

 Adult Junior Adult Junior 

Number at beginning of year 21,557 1,416 21,825 1,325 

New Members 1,334 134 1,007 170 

Exits 2,671 196 1,275 79 

Number at end of year 20,220 1,354 21,557 1,416 

     

Child Trust Fund Exits N/A 590 N/A 255 

Child Trust Fund Members* N/A 45,921 N/A 46,511 

*HM Revenue and Customs no longer open Revenue Allocated Accounts for Children. 

Appreciation 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the Society’s staff for their loyalty and hard work 

and in particular their support of our Members.  

Appreciation is also expressed to the following for their valuable advice and assistance to the 

Society: 

• Mr S Dixon - Our Chief Actuary & With-Profits Actuary and his firm: Steve Dixon Associates; 
• BDO LLP - Our External Auditors; 
• Liles Morris Chartered Accountants - Our Accountants; 
• Investec - Our Investment Managers; 
• RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP - Our Internal Auditors; 
• E D (Financial) Limited - Our Compliance and Risk Consultants. 
 

The Board approved this Strategic Report on 7 April 2022. 

Signed 

Ali Ramezankhani, Chief Executive 

On behalf of the Board of Management  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
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In preparing this report, the Directors confirm that they consider the annual report and financial 

statements taken as a whole, to be fair, balanced and understandable, providing information that 

is necessary for Members to assess the Society’s performance, business model and strategy. 

The Society’s Board is accountable to the Society’s Members and UK Regulators for the operation 

of the Society. The Board regards good corporate governance as fundamental to this 

responsibility. The Society follows the Association of Financial Mutuals (AFM) Principles of the 

Code of Corporate Governance. 

The Society has set out below how the AFM Principles will be applied in the next financial year 

throughout its work. 

 

 

Principle 1 – Purpose and leadership 

 

Our Society was founded in 1885 as a friendly society and operates in the Passenger Transport 

Industry. The Society seeks to generate added value for its Members in all that it does. 

 

Our Mission is to: 

Continue as a Mutual Society and promote and support mutuality wherever possible. 

Provide products and services that our Members value. 

Respond to the changing needs of our Members. 

Be an employer of choice. 

 

Our Values: 

We believe in conducting all our dealings with integrity and aim to treat our Members, staff and 

stakeholders fairly. 
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Principle 2 – Board Composition 

 

A biography for each Board Director can be found in the Directors’ Report set out within this 

Report and Accounts and also available on the Society’s website. 

The Society has a separate Chairman and Chief Executive to ensure that the balance of 

responsibilities, accountabilities and decision making are effectively maintained. The Chairman 

plays a pivotal role in creating the conditions for overall Board and individual director 

effectiveness. 

The Board currently comprises a Chairman, Chief Executive and 7 Non-Executive Directors 

(NEDs). The Chairman and four of the Non-Executive Directors, one of whom being a Chartered 

Management Accountant, are from the Passenger Transport Industry.  Of the other three Non-

Executive Directors, two are actuaries and bring extensive actuarial experience in addition to 

perspectives and challenge from outside the Passenger Transport Industry and the other has 

extensive experience of mutuals and friendly societies and was previously the Society’s 

Compliance Officer and subsequently its Chief Executive. 

The Society acknowledges that there is a relative lack of diversity on the Board and recognises 

that this is a challenge across the Mutual and Friendly Societies sector as a whole, but 

nevertheless, the Society is committed to increasing diversity on its Board. 

The Directors have equal voting rights when making decisions, except the Chairman, who has a 

casting vote in the event of a tie. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 

Society’s Secretary and as appropriate, take professional advice at the Society’s expense. 

The duties of the Board are executed partially through committees. The Non-Executive Directors 

attend and act as Chair to relevant committees so that they are able to challenge and influence 

a broad range of areas across the Society’s business. 

The Board ensures that the values, strategy and culture align, are implemented and are 

communicated consistently to the Society’s staff through regular team meetings and the annual 

general meeting 

The Directors update their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Society’s products and 

operations by meeting with senior management, visiting its office and by attending appropriate 

external seminars and training courses. There is an induction programme for all new Directors 

which is tailored to their specific experience and knowledge and which provides access to all 

parts of the Society’s business. 

The Board last undertook a formal independent assessment performed by an independent 

external advisor in March 2019 and has scheduled the next independent review for 2022. The 

2019 assessment concluded that the operation of the Board and the governance structure are 

generally satisfactory and what you would expect to find in a Society of the size and nature of 

the Society. 

The Board has noted the Definition of independence for NEDs document issued by the AFM in 

August 2019 and asked the individual Board Members to take note of the criteria required for a 

Non-Executive Director to be deemed independent.  
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The Board has further noted that: If a NED fails to meet any of these criteria, they can still serve 

on the Board as an ‘Other NED’. Alternatively, the Board should satisfy itself that the Director 

can still be considered independent and should include a clear explanation in their report and 

accounts on how they have satisfied themselves of the Director’s independence. 

The Society is an affinity mutual – with the majority of its Members from the Passenger Transport 

Industry. Whilst it is difficult for the Society to recruit new NEDs from the Passenger Transport 

Industry, the Board acknowledges that it needs and benefits from having long-standing NEDs as 

corporate memory is very important to an organisation. At the same time, the Board 

acknowledges that such NEDs should be rotated as suitable replacements are identified. 

The Board considers strategic issues, including operational matters and Key Performance 

Indicators over the course of its meetings during the year. 

In addition to the independent assessment, the Board Members conduct Board, Committees and 

Chairman’s assessments as well as formal assessments of each other to keep progress and 

success in the execution of the action plans agreed under formal review. The Board considers 

effectiveness assessments important in the identification of key areas for future improvements, 

focus and for strengthening its overall performance. 
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Principle 3 – Directors’ Responsibilities 

 

Accountability 

Good governance supports open and fair business, ensures that the Society has the right 

safeguards in place and makes certain that every decision it takes is underpinned by the right 

considerations. Whilst Board oversight is always maintained, key decisions are made by the 

individuals and committees with the most appropriate knowledge and industry experience. 

Each Board member has a clear understanding of their accountability and responsibilities. The 

Board and Committees have a programme of principal meetings every year and can have 

additional meetings as and when necessary. 

The Society’s and the Board’s key areas of focus are set out in the Society’s Annual Business Plan. 

The Chairman, Chief Executive, Non-Executive Directors and other Members of the wider 

leadership team complete an Annual Code of Conduct declaration confirming that they have 

behaved in accordance with the Society’s behaviours and values. As part of this process, all 

individuals must declare any potential conflicts of interest. These declarations are collated by the 

Society’s Compliance Officer & Secretary and communicated to the Compliance & Risk 

Assessment Committee. Where there are potential conflicts, appropriate safeguards have been 

implemented. 

Committees 

The Board delegates authority for day-to-day management of the Society to the Chief Executive. 

In addition, certain governance responsibilities are delegated to other Board Committees: 

Advisory Arrangement, Audit, Compliance and Risk Assessment, Development, Remuneration 

and Nominations. These Committees include both Independent Non-Executive Directors, 

together with the other Non-Executive Directors, who support effective decision making and 

independent challenge. The Non-Executive Directors are wholly independent in that they have 

no material business or relationships with the Society that might influence their independence 

or judgement. 

Integrity of information 

The Board receives regular and timely information on all key aspects of the business including 

health and safety, risks and opportunities, the financial performance of the business, strategy, 

operational matters, market conditions and sustainability, all supported by Key Performance 

Indicators. 

Key financial information is collated from the Society’s accounting system. The Society’s 

Accountant’s function is performed by external providers – Liles Morris, who are appropriately 

qualified to ensure the integrity of this information. Financial information is currently externally 

audited by BDO LLP on an annual basis, and financial controls are reviewed by the Society’s 

internal audit function which is again performed by external providers – RSM Risk Assurance 

Services LLP. 
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The Society’s actuarial function is also performed by external providers Steve Dixon Associates, 

who are appropriately qualified and experienced to ensure the Society and its Board receive all 

necessary and appropriate advice and recommendations to assist them in the proper execution 

of their duties. 

Other key information is prepared by the relevant internal function. Processes for collecting data, 

as well as the reporting of that data, is reviewed on a cyclical basis by the Society’s Chief Executive 

and Compliance Officer & Secretary with quarterly reporting provided to the Audit Committee 

and the Board. 

 

Principle 4 – Opportunities and Risk 

 

The Board seeks out opportunities whilst mitigating risk. 

Opportunities 

Long-term strategic opportunities are highlighted in the Society’s annual Business Plan which is 

presented to the Board every year. The Board seeks out opportunities drawn from the business, 

its strategy and the committees to which it delegates. Short-term opportunities to improve 

performance, resilience and liquidity are collated by the Executive team and reviewed by the 

relevant committee on a quarterly basis. 

Risk 

The Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee ensures that inherent and emerging risks are 

identified and managed appropriately and in a timely manner. The Committee focuses on 

monitoring the effectiveness of the Society’s approach to risk identification, classification and 

mitigation. The Society’s key operational risks and mitigations are set out in the Society’s Risk 

Register. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis and updates the Risk Register with any 

changes. The Committee continues to refine and enhance the Society’s Risk Management 

Framework and Risk Register and works to ensure consistency across operations. 

The Risk Register is presented to the Board on a quarterly basis and any specific points raised by 

the Board are discussed in the subsequent Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee. 

The Society’s systems and controls are designed to manage and mitigate, rather than to entirely 

eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and 

not an absolute assurance against a risk materialising. 

Responsibilities 

The Society has a Board Handbook and individual Statements of Responsibilities for all Members 

of the Board and its Executive which encapsulate the Society’s operating rules, processes, best 

practice standards and delegated authorities. These documents are the fundamental platform 

for the Society’s internal control framework. 

The Society’s Board approves any contract above a certain value (determined by the Board) or 

any transaction that requires an unbudgeted allocation of capital, to ensure that the appropriate 

level of diligence has been performed in understanding the obligations, risks and terms of the 

contract. This enables the Society to protect the integrity and long-term sustainability of its 

businesses, to meet its strategic objectives and to create value for its Members.  
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Principle 5 – Remuneration 

 

 

The Remuneration Committee’s primary objective is to set remuneration at a level that will 

enhance the Society’s resources by securing and retaining quality senior management who can 

deliver the Society’s strategic ambitions in a manner consistent with both its purpose and the 

interests of its Members. 

The Remuneration Committee has clearly defined terms of reference and is responsible for 

making recommendations to the Board concerning the Society’s remuneration strategy and 

recruitment framework. In doing so, the Committee takes note of legislative requirements, best 

market practice and remuneration benchmarking, drawing on evidence from across the Mutual 

and Friendly Societies sector. Pay is aligned with performance and taking into account fair pay 

and conditions across the Society’s workforce. 

The Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Society’s Annual Report and Accounts document. 

The Society is an active equal opportunities employer and promotes an environment free from 

discrimination, harassment and victimisation, where everyone receives equal treatment and 

career development regardless of age, gender, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, marital status, 

sexual orientation or disability. All decisions relating to employment practices (including 

remuneration) are objective, free from bias and based solely upon work criteria and individual 

merit. 
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Principle 6 – Stakeholders 

 

The Board is clear that good governance and effective communication are essential on a day-to- 

day basis to deliver the Society’s objectives and to protect the Society’s brand, reputation and 

relationships with all its Members, other stakeholders and the wider Passenger Transport 

Industry. 

The Board continues to seek to align the Society’s strategic direction with its purpose and to the 

Members’ long-term aspirations for sustainability and growth. 

The Chief Executive is the primary communication route between the Board and the Society’s 

Members. The Society’s Non-Executive Directors working in the Passenger Transport Industry 

also work hard to ensure harmony and unity amongst the wider Membership. 

External impacts 

The Board is committed to social responsibility, community engagement and environmental 

sustainability. It achieves this in part through its commitment to a culture of zero harm (ensuring 

the safety, health and wellbeing of everyone who works with us); creating positive environmental 

and social impact; being an employer of choice where everyone is valued and respected. 

 

Stakeholders 

The Board promotes accountability and transparency with all external stakeholders. The Society’s 

annual general meeting allows Members to raise questions and concerns. 

 

The staff also complete an annual declaration confirming that they have complied with the 

Society’s Code of Conduct and confirming that they have behaved in accordance with the 

Society’s behaviours and values. 

If any employee wishes to highlight any potential breaches to the Code of Conduct, they can 

report the matter to the Society’s Compliance Officer and a formal investigation would follow. 

The Board monitors its employees’ commitment to its Culture by asking them to complete an 

annual questionnaire. The surveys are performed to highlight areas of improvement in 

communication of the Society’s purpose. The Board considers the results of all employee surveys 

a good barometer of the workforce’s confidence in the Society’s Culture and Conduct direction, 

optimism in the future and career opportunities. 

The Board communicates openly with the Chair of the Staff Pension Scheme, who is an employee 

of the Society. The Staff Pension Scheme Trustees comprise individuals nominated by both the 

pension scheme Members and the Board. These relationships are key to ensuring that the 

decisions made by both the Society and the Scheme reflect the interest of all stakeholders. 

The Society’s website (www.tfs.uk.com) provides extensive information on the Society, its 

products and services.  



 34   

 

The Society’s Board met 8 times during 2021 and was comprised of a NED Chairman, 1 Executive 

Director and originally 6 NEDs which increased to 7 NEDs following Mr Rudyk’s appointment  in 

June 2021. 

A number of the Society’s NEDs still actively work within the Passenger Transport Industry. This 

helps the Board to satisfy itself that it understands the views of the Society’s Members in relation 

to the Society. These NEDs, together with the NEDs with relevant and significant actuarial, 

financial and senior management experience, provide a balance of skills which help the Society 

provide appropriate products and services for the benefit of Members. 

The Board continually reviews its Governance composition and its range of expertise and 

experience. In 2021, the Board agreed that the Society would continue to benefit by appointing 

a NED with significant financial experience and in June 2021, the Board appointed Mr P Rudyk. 

Mr Rudyk was nominated in accordance with Rule 12 of the Society’s Rules and as there was no 

contest for the office of Director, Mr Rudyk was elected under Rule 22(4)(a) to the Board of 

Management at the 2021 Annual General Meeting. 

The Board evaluates the performance of individual Board Members annually through an 

appraisal system and if any areas of weakness are identified, appropriate remedial action will be 

taken. Subsequently, if there has been no significant improvement, the Chairman of the Society 

may request the Board member either not to stand for re-election or resign from the Board. All 

Board Members’ performances were rated satisfactory or higher during 2021. 

The Chairman also reviews the performance of the Committees which were also rated 

satisfactory in 2021. The Board also reviews its own performance against the critical success 

factors laid down in its Business Plan. In addition, the Board seeks the views of its professional 

advisors to ascertain how the Board has performed as a whole. 

All Directors have access to both independent professional advice, as necessary, and the advice 

and services of the Society’s Secretary, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board 

Procedures are complied with. The Secretary is also responsible for ensuring good information 

flows to the Board and its Committees. The Board is satisfied that the Secretary carried out these 

duties effectively during 2021. Both the appointment and removal of the Secretary is a matter 

for the Board as a whole. 
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The following decisions are reserved for the Board: 

• Bonus policy / bonus rates 

• Preparation and Approval of accounts 

• Determination of the Long-Term Business Provision 

• Approval of Internal Audit reports 

• Approval of Regulatory Returns 

• Approval of financial budget 

• Approval of Business Plan 

• Approval of Risk Management Framework 

• Approval of Management Action Plan 

• Approval of Climate Change Plan 

• Approval of major expenditure 

• Investment policy 

• Approval of appointment of consultants / outsourcing arrangements / contracts with third 

parties 

• Approval of appointment / termination of senior staff 

• Recommendation of changes to the Memorandum and Rules of the Society to be proposed at 

the Society’s AGM. 

 

The independence of the Non-Executive Directors (NED) has been reviewed and, apart from 

Messrs Rudyk, Hutton, Silby and Ms Fairless, it was noted that the remaining NEDs held policies 

with the Society. 

 

In the opinion of the Board, all NEDs, including the Chairman, are considered to be independent 

for the following reasons: 

• The monetary contributions made by Board Members to the Society are relatively small so their 

financial interest in the Society is modest 

• Similarly, the payments received for being a NED are not material. This includes any 

Introduction Fee paid to a NED who is also a registered Ambassador 

• Directors, in order to retain their independence, maintain an arm’s length distance from the 

day to day running of the Society 

• Robust, informed debate is encouraged at Board Meetings so that the independence of NEDs 
is not compromised. 
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The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive remained separate during 2021 and are distinct in 
their purpose. The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board and ensuring that the 
Board acts effectively. The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for managing the Society. 
Details of their respective responsibilities are available upon request. 
 
In 2021 the basic NED remuneration was a fixed fee of £8,343 per annum. The Chair’s basic 

remuneration was £10,135 per annum.  In addition, the Board Members receive a supplement in 

order to recognise the different roles/responsibilities set out by the Regulators and the skills 

necessary to perform satisfactorily those roles which are set out in the Table below. The NEDs 

also received £100 attendance fee for attending each Board and Committee meeting. 

 

Position Role/Responsibility Skills 

Chair of Society £10,802 £2,529 

Chair of Advisory Arrangement / Actuarial Skills £1,264 £6,321 

Chair of Audit £2,529 £2,529 

Chair of Compliance and Risk £2,529 £2,529 

Chair of Remuneration £1,264 N/A 

Senior Independent Director £2,529 N/A 

Chair of Nominations £1,264 N/A 

Vice Chair £1,264 £1,264 

 

The Board has established a number of Committees which are set out below. The composition of 

Committees is reviewed each year at the first Board meeting after the AGM. The details below 

list the composition of each Committee, as agreed by the Board at their meeting held on  

20 July 2021, give a brief summary of its responsibilities and includes some brief information in 

relation to key issues considered by each Committee during 2021. 

The Terms of reference of each Committee are published on the Society’s website. 

 

With-Profits Advisory Arrangement (AA) 
N Silby (Chair), S Barker, B Hutton and C Jeffrey. 

 

The AA met once in 2021. The AA looks after the interests of the With-Profits policyholders. The 

role of the AA is to advise, recommend and monitor how the Board manages the With-Profits 

Fund and how any surplus is used. In 2021, the AA met in February 2021 to consider the impact 

of Covid-19 on the Society and the report from the With-Profits Actuary. The AA fed their 

comments to the Board prior to the Board’s approval of Bonus rates and these were adopted. 
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Audit Committee (AC) 
B Hutton (Chair), S Barker, E Fairless, N Silby and P Rudyk. 

 

The Audit Committee met 4 times during 2021. The Committee assists the Board in meeting its 

responsibilities in respect of systems and controls and external financial reporting. It also 

considers the effectiveness of Internal Audit which, in the light of the size of the Society, is 

currently outsourced. The Society’s Internal Auditors in 2021 were RSM Risk Assurance Services 

LLP and its External Auditors were BDO LLP. 

Internal Audit Activities for 2021 covered: 

i. the core controls surrounding strategy and the Society’s governance practices including 

Strategy, Culture, Remuneration and Remote Working, and  

ii. if an appropriate control framework is in place designed to ensure the operational 

resilience of the Society’s IT systems and processes in event of a disruption to business 

operations. 

The Committee met with the Society’s Internal and External Auditors and considered the reports 

from them regarding the audit process and outcomes. The Auditors’ effectiveness is reviewed by 

the Audit Committee based on information, accuracy, quality and timeliness of the Audit process. 

The Chair of the Audit Committee is a qualified Chartered Management Accountant. In order to 

provide some independence, the Chair of the Audit Committee does not chair any other 

Committee. 

In 2021, following a tender process, the Committee appointed Royce Peeling Green Limited (RPG) 

as the new external auditors for 2022. 

 

Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee (CRAC) 
N Silby (Chair), S Barker, E Fairless, B Hutton, P Rudyk and T Georghiou. 

 

The Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee met 4 times in 2021. Mr Rudyk joined the 

Committee in July 2021. The Committee’s remit is to ensure and monitor the Society’s 

compliance with its regulatory responsibilities including updating the Society’s Own Risk and 

Solvency Assessment (ORSA). In addition, the Committee monitors the Society’s risk exposure 

against the Society’s Risk Appetite. 

The Committee also continued its focus on the Society’s Culture and Governance as well as 

Solvency and Financial Condition Report (SFCR) and a number of risk and other security related 

policies. 

In 2021, following a tender process, the Committee appointed Lindsay Unwin of Milliman as the 

new Chief Actuary and With-Profits Actuary for 2022. 
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Development Committee (DC) 
S Barker (Chair), E Fairless, B Hutton, C Jeffrey and M Storer. 

 

The Development Committee met 3 times during 2021. The Development Committee’s role is to 

assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities in respect of the development of the Society, in 

increasing the Society’s new business as well as its managing Culture and Conduct Risk. 

 

Nominations Committee (Nom) 
C Jeffrey (Chair), E Fairless, M Storer, P Brown and A Ramezankhani. 

 

The Nominations Committee did not meet in 2021 because of the Covid-19 pandemic and the 

Government’s lockdowns. 

The Committee oversees the Board’s recruitment process. When any vacancy on the Board arises 

the nomination process openly invites nominations from any individuals interested. The Society 

welcomes suitable nominations from any eligible and committed individual regardless of their 

gender, sexual orientation, marital or civil partner status, race, colour, ethnic/national origin, 

religion/belief, disability or age. Valid nomination forms are then considered by the Nominations 

Committee which assesses those nominated and makes appropriate recommendations to the 

Board. Members of the Board are elected at the Annual General Meeting on a one member one 

vote basis. More information about the process is available upon request. 

 

Remuneration Committee (Rem) 
S Barker (Chair), E Fairless and N Silby. 

 

The Remuneration Committee met twice in 2021. The role of the Committee is to review the 

Society’s remuneration policy and determine the remuneration packages for Directors and staff. 

The Committee did this in 2021 and recommended increases in the remuneration of the Chief 

Executive, NEDs and the Society’s staff. 
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Attendance at 2021 Board and Committee Meetings 

 

 

Key 

1. Chairman of the Board 

2. Vice Chair of Board of Management until June 2021, Chair of the Remuneration Committee 

and Development Committee and on the Board of Trustees of the Staff Pension Scheme 

3. Vice Chair of Board of Management from July 2021 

4. Chair of the Audit Committee 

5. Chair of the Nominations Committee. Senior Independent Director from July 2019  

6. Chair of the Advisory Arrangement Committee and Compliance and Risk Assessment 

Committee 

 

The Chairman and Chief Executive also attend the majority of Committee meetings. In addition, 

Mr Rudyk attended all available Committee meetings as part of his NED induction training until 

July 2021 at which point he was assigned to Committees mentioned previously. Mr Georghiou is 

a member of and attends meetings of the Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee. 

  

Name Board AA Audit CRAC DC Nom Rem 
Appointment 
Date 

Expiry of current 
term 

S Barker (2) 8/8 1/1 3/4 3/4 3/3 - 2/2 22/06/2002 June 2022 

P Brown (1) 8/8 1/1 4/4 4/4 3/3  2/2 22/06/2004 June 2022 

E Fairless 8/8 1/1 4/4 4/4 3/3  2/2 11/09/2018 June 2022 

B Hutton (4) 8/8 1/1 4/4 4/4 3/3 -  11/08/2020 June 2023 

C Jeffrey (5) 8/8 1/1   2/3   22/06/2004 June 2022 

A Ramezankhani  8/8 1/1 4/4 4/4 3/3 -  05/10/2016 June 2023 

P Rudyk (3) 4/4  2/2 2/2 2/2 -  29/06/2021 June 2024 

N Silby (6) 8/8 1/1 4/4 4/4   2/2 01/02/2013 June 2022 

M Storer 5/8  3/3 3/3 3/3   08/07/2008 June 2022 
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The composition of the Board in 2021 was as follows: 

 

 

Mr Peter Brown - Chairman 

Mr Brown retired in 2015 after 46 years working within the Transport Industry where he held 

various supervisory and middle management positions. Mr Brown was elected to the Board of 

TFS in 2004.  Mr Brown was a member of the Audit Committee and Chair of the Compliance and 

Risk Assessment Committee but had to resign from those posts following his election on 6 

February 2018 as the Society’s Chairman by the Board following the death of Mr Welch, the 

Society’s previous Chairman in January 2018. 

 

 

Mr Peter Rudyk - Vice Chair 

M Rudyk has worked for a number of friendly societies and mutual organisations over a period 

of more than 35 years performing many different roles relating to insurance and pensions. He 

joined the Transport Friendly Society in 2008 and was soon appointed as Secretary. In February 

2014, Mr Rudyk was appointed as the Society’s Chief Executive and held the position until he 

retired in December 2016.  Mr Rudyk was nominated and elected to the Board at the Society’s 

AGM in June 2021 and was subsequently nominated and elected Vice Chair in July 2021 following 

Mr Barker’s resignation from the role.  Mr Rudyk is a member of the Audit Committee and 

Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee. 

 

 

Mr Stephen Barker - Vice Chair and Member Relations Director 

Mr Barker has worked within the Transport Industry for 40 years and has been a member of the 

Society’s Board since 2002. He was elected Vice Chair in July 2005 and retired from the role in 

July 2021. Mr Barker is Chair of the Development and Remuneration Committees and is a 

member of the Advisory Arrangement and was a member of the Audit Committee and 

Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee until June 2021. Mr Barker has been a Registered 

Ambassador for the Society since 2000. Mr Barker joined the Board of Trustees of the Staff 

Pension Scheme in 2018. 
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Mr Barry Hutton BA (Honours) ACMA 

Mr Hutton a qualified Chartered Management Accountant, worked for London Transport and its 

successors from 1978 until 2012, holding a number of positions including District Accountant for 

London Buses and then Financial Controller and Finance Director for London Underground 

Limited, (with the exception of a period in 1992 to 1993 when he worked for CAPITA as Group 

Financial Controller). Following retirement in 2012, Mr Hutton worked as Governance Manager 

& Head of Finance for the British Transport Police. Mr Hutton joined the Society’s Board in June 

2020 and was nominated and elected to the Board at the Society’s AGM in August 2020. Mr 

Hutton is Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of the Advisory Arrangement, Compliance 

and Risk Assessment Committee and Development Committee. 

 

Ms Elaine Fairless MA AIA DipDM 

Ms Fairless has had long experience of the financial mutuals sector, ranging from larger insurance 

mutuals to very small friendly societies both as an employee and as a consultant. Ms Fairless 

strongly believes in the mutual ethos and supports the promotion of both small and large mutuals 

in order to provide Members with choice and a personal service.  Ms Fairless’ technical 

experience covers actuarial matters, business planning, compliance, risk and other regulation. 

She is currently Managing Director of E D (Financial) Limited - a small actuarial and management 

consultancy. She is a Board member of the Association of Financial Mutuals and is an associate 

of the Institute of Actuaries. Ms Fairless joined the Society’s Board in September 2018 and was 

nominated and elected to the Board at the Society’s AGM in June 2019. Ms Fairless is a member 

of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Assessment, Development and Remuneration Committees. 

 

 

Mr Christopher Jeffrey 

Mr Jeffrey has worked within the Transport Industry for 40 years and is currently a driver with 

London Central. He was elected to the TFS Board in 2004 and is a Registered Ambassador for the 

Society. Mr Jeffrey became the Senior Independent Director in July 2019 following Mr Arnold’s 

retirement from the Board. Mr Jeffrey also serves as the Chair of the Nominations Committee 

and is a member of the Advisory Arrangement and the Development Committee. 
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Mr Ali Ramezankhani MSc BSc - Chief Executive 

Mr Ramezankhani has worked for friendly societies and mutual companies for over 37 years. In 

1991 he started his managerial career in IT and soon progressed to Senior Management level 

responsible for Operational and Membership Services. In 2009, Mr Ramezankhani joined the 

Society as a consultant until December 2013 when he took up the role of Operations Manager 

on a permanent basis. He was appointed as the Society’s Secretary in March 2015 and has been 

the Chief Executive Officer since October 2016. Mr Ramezankhani is the Secretary of the Society’s 

Staff Pension Scheme. 

 

 

Mr Nigel Silby BSc FIA 

Mr Silby qualified as an actuary in 1977 whilst working for a large UK life insurance company. In 

1984 he became a consulting actuary and has worked with a wide range of life insurance and 

friendly societies on a large variety of projects. He has been the statutory actuary for several life 

insurance companies and friendly societies. Between 2002 and 2008 he was the actuary of 

Transport Friendly Society. Mr Silby joined the Society’s Board in 2013 and is the Chair of the 

Advisory Arrangement and Compliance and Risk Assessment Committee. Mr Silby also serves on 

the Audit and Remuneration Committees. Mr Silby is also a Director of E D (Financial) Limited. 

 

 

Mr Michael Storer 

Mr Storer has worked within the Transport Industry for 42 years and has been a member of the 

Society since 1979. He is a driver and Registered Ambassador for the Society at Tolworth garage 

and was elected to the Society’s Board in June 2008 where he was a member of the Audit and 

Compliance and Risk Assessment Committees until the 2021 AGM, he is a member of the 

Development Committee. 
 

Constitution of the Board 

At the 2021 AGM the following were elected/re-elected to the Board: 

Messrs S Barker, P Brown, C Jeffrey, P Rudyk and M Storer. 

At the end of the AGM in 2022 Messrs S Barker, P Brown, C Jeffrey, N Silby and M Storer, in 

accordance with Rule 22(1A), will be due to retire from the Board having served more than nine 

years as Directors. Mr Silby will not be standing for re-election.  The Board has determined that 

Messrs Barker, Brown, Jeffrey and Storer, remain sufficiently independent to remain on the 

Board. 

The Society maintains a Senior Managers Functions and Prescribed Responsibilities document 

detailing appointments and resignations of all Directors as required by legislation.  
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Principal activity 

The principal activity of the Society is the writing of sickness and income protection products, 

including health cash plans to passenger transport workers. In addition to these policies, the 

Society also issues Adult and Child Tax-Free Savings products and Individual Savings Accounts. 
 

Future activities 

The Board of Management will continue on its path of steadily growing the Society using its 

current distribution method and existing product range.  

The Society will continue to enhance its new website and digital promotions with additional 

features and continue to work on the implementation of its new administration systems and new 

processes. The successful implementation of Direct Debit continues to enable the Society to 

collect Members’ contributions more efficiently. 

 

Business viability and going concern 

The Society’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, 

performance and position, are set out in the Chief Executive’s Report, the strategic report and in 

Note 1 to the Financial Statements. 

The Board has assessed the viability of the Society over a period based on the Society’s Business 

Plan. The Plan is reviewed and approved by the Board annually. The latest Plan was approved in 

December 2021 and covers the period 2021-2025. 

The Board also believes the Society has adequate resources and recurring income to continue in 

operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the going concern basis has been used in the 

preparation of the Financial Statements. 

As detailed in this annual report, the Society has a robust process for managing its operations 

and for the approval of the risk appetite, risk monitoring and reporting. The Board believes the 

Society is well placed to manage its business effectively, having regard to its nature, scale and 

complexity. The Board does not have any reason to believe the Society will not continue to be in 

operation over the foreseeable future. 
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Bonus Rates 

In line with its usual practice and in accordance with the Society’s Principles and Practices of 

Financial Management, the Board has declared the Society’s Bonus Rates for 2021 after 

considering the advice and recommendation of the Chief Actuary, With-Profits Actuary and the 

Advisory Arrangement. The rates are set out below. 

 

 2021 2020 

Life Business:   

Reversionary 
Bonuses 

  

Endowment (except 
Table EB) 

£2.50 per unit £2.50 per unit 

Endowment (Table EB) £2.75 per unit £2.75 per unit 

Old Death £0.00 per unit £0.00 per unit 

New Death £2.00 per unit £2.00 per unit 

Provident £0.00 per unit £0.00 per unit 

Terminal Bonuses 
  

 
Endowment  
(Tables E60 and E65) 

 
Endowment 

(Table EB) 

 

Endowment  

(Table JT10 and JA18) 

10% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 
 
20% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 
 
 
15% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 
10% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 
 

 
15% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 
 
 
15% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 
Old Death 

 

5% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 

5% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 

New Death 
5% of basic sum assured 

plus reversionary bonuses 

5% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

 

Provident 
0% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

0% of basic sum assured 
plus reversionary bonuses 

Sickness Business: 
No Claims Bonuses 

  

SI 
£0.00 per unit for claim 
free year in 2021 

£0.00 per unit for claim 
free year in 2020 

All SN, SP and SR Policy 
Types 

£5.00 per unit for claim 
free year in 2021 

£5.00 per unit for claim 
free year in 2020 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 

 

The Friendly Societies Act 1992 (‘the Act’) requires the Board to prepare Financial Statements for 

each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Society as at the 

end of the financial year and of the income and expenditure of the Society for that period. In 

preparing those Financial Statements, the Board is required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to material 

departure disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements; and 

• prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Society will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the Society and enable them to ensure that the 

Financial Statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 

of the Society and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 

and other irregularities. 

The Board believes it has fulfilled its responsibilities and approved this Report on 7 April 2022.  

 

Signed 

   

Peter Brown, Chairman 

On behalf of the Board of Management 
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Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Society’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and 
of its surplus for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the Friendly Societies Act 1992. 

We have audited the financial statements of Transport Friendly Society Limited (the ”Society“) 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, 
the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.  

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and Financial Reporting 
Standard 103 Insurance Contracts (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee. 

Independence 

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board of 
Directors in June 2014 to audit the financial statements for the year ended December 2014 and 
subsequent financial periods.  Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were 
reappointed by members of the Society on 18 June 2020 to audit the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement including reappointments is 8 years, covering the years ended 31 
December 2014 to 31 December 2021. 

We remain independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services prohibited by that standard were 
not provided to the Society.  

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our 
evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included:  
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• Review and challenge of the Society current plans and budgets, challenging growth 
assertions and checking that movements were in line with justifiable assumptions. The 
Society’s Business strategy report was obtained and inspected for threats to the going 
concern assumption and the 2022 budget was assessed based on audited 2021 figures 
and our general commercial and sector experience; and 

• Challenge and discussion around the latest Own Risk and Solvency Assessment provided 
by the Society. In addition, we have reviewed the solvency projections, reconciling 
current positions to the financial statements and challenged the Director’s as to the 
assumptions embedded within the model. We have also checked that the modelling used 
for solvency is in line with industry standards.  
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating 
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the 
Society’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.  

 

Overview 

 

 
 
 
 
Key audit matters 

 
 2021 2020 

 
Valuation of 
technical 
provisions 

√ √ 

 
 

 
Materiality 

Society financial statements as a whole 
 
£1,187,000 (2020: £1,164,000) based on 1.5% (2020: 
1.5%) of a three-year average of gross assets.  
 

 

An overview of the scope of our audit 

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Society and its environment, 
including the Society’s system of internal control, and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements.  We also addressed the risk of management override 
of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that 
may have represented a risk of material misstatement. 

All audit work was performed directly by the audit engagement team with the assistance of 
appointed experts.  
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The following 
matter was identified as a key audit matter to be communicated in the current year. 
 

Description of Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit 
addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of 
technical 
provisions 

The financial 
statements include 
a future value of 
long term 
insurance contract 
of £27.9 million 
(2020: £28.1 
million), which 
represents the 
estimated costs of 
settling benefits 
and claims 
associated with 
mainly income 
protection 
products. This is 
set out in further 
detail in note 22. 

 

 

 

 

 

There is an inherent risk that 
insurance technical provisions can 
be misstated due to the fact that 
estimates are necessarily involved, 
and as such, there is an element of 
subjectivity in any such provision. 

The calculation of the Society’s 
insurance technical provisions 
requires management to make 
significant judgements about a 
variety of assumptions including 
(but not limited to) mortality 
assumptions, lapsed rate, 
investment yields, discount rates 
and the current expectation of 
future expenses. 

We have assessed this area as 
being of significant risk to the audit 
due to the significance of these 
amounts in deriving the Society’s 
results and because of the degree 
of assumptions and estimation 
underpinning the calculation, 
which can be highly subjective.  

 

 

 

In assessing the valuation of 
technical provisions, we performed 
the following procedures: 

• We have obtained and 
reviewed the actuarial reports 
prepared by the Society’s 
Actuary.  

• With the assistance of our 
actuarial expert, whom we 
engaged for their expertise in 
life and income protection 
insurance, we have: 

o Assessed the 
appropriateness of the 
methodology and the 
reasonableness of 
assumptions applied by 
management in their 
calculation of the provision.  

o Tested the accuracy of the 
calculation of the provision 

• We obtained an understanding 
of the conclusions in the 
actuarial reports prepared by 
the Society’s Actuary and by 
our actuarial expert, and 
assessed whether all the 
relevant judgements and 
estimates have been 
considered in the calculation of 
the provision. 

• We have challenged the 
conclusions arrived at by our 
actuarial expert and checked 
that their processes are in 
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accordance with both Technical 
Actuarial Standards (TAS) and 
industry practices. 

• We considered the 
competence, capabilities, 
objectivity, and independence 
of the actuarial experts 
engaged by us. 

• We obtained the data which 
was provided to the Society’s 
actuaries and our own actuarial 
experts to perform their 
calculations and performed a 
reconciliation to the nominal 
ledger. 

• We agreed a sample of data for 
new members to the policy 
admin system to test that the 
underlying policy data had 
been correctly entered. 

• We have reviewed changes to 
the assumptions used in the 
technical provisions and, with 
the assistance of our actuarial 
expert, have assessed whether 
these are reasonable and in line 
with acceptable parameters. 

Key observations:  

As a result of the procedures 
performed, we did not identify any 
matters to suggest that the 
assumptions applied by 
management in valuing the 
technical provisions are 
inappropriate. 
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Our application of materiality 

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating 
the effect of misstatements.  We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which 
misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users 
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed 
materiality, we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent 
of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be 
evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and 
the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial 
statements as a whole.  

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as 
a whole and performance materiality as follows: 

 2021 
£ 000’s 

2020 
£ 000’s 

Materiality 1,187 1,164 

Basis for determining 
materiality 

1.5% of a three-year average of gross assets 
 

Rationale for the benchmark 
applied 

Gross assets, is a key measure of the performance of an 
insurance body by stakeholders and is used to assess the 
overall financial strength of the Society and in assessing its 
solvency. 

Performance materiality 890 873 

Basis for determining 
performance materiality 

75% of Materiality 
 

Our performance materiality was based on our risk 
assessment, the history of misstatements, and our 
expectation of misstatements in the current year. 

 

Specific Materiality 

We also determined that for items in the Income Statement, a misstatement of less than 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole, specific materiality, could influence the 
economic decisions of users. As a result, we determined materiality for these items to be  
£105,000 (2020: £258,000) based on 3.5% of earned premium income (2020: 7.5%). The change 
was due to our assessed risk of material misstatement and expectations of users of the financial 
statements. We further applied a performance materiality of 75% (2020: 75%) of specific 
materiality to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding specific materiality was appropriately 
mitigated.  

Reporting threshold 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit 
differences in excess of £23,740 (2020: £23,000). We also agreed to report differences below this 
threshold that in our view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.  

 



 53   

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report and financial statements, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Other Friendly Societies Act 1992 reporting 

Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the 
audit, we are required by the Friendly Societies Act 1992 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain 
opinions and matters as described below.   

Strategic report 
and Directors’ 
report  
 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the 
audit: 

• the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ 
report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Society and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified 
material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report. 
 

Matters on 
which we are 
required to 
report by 
exception 
 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 
relation to which the Friendly Societies Act 1992 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion: 

• proper accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit. 
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Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Society’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We 
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures 
are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material 
effect on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and 
through discussion with the Directors and other management, including the policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. We communicated identified laws 
and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance 
throughout the audit. 
 
Legal and regulatory frameworks determined most significant are: 
 

• Friendly Societies Act 1992. 

• Friendly Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1994. 

• Financial Reporting Standards 102 and 103 applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

• AFM Corporate Governance Code. 
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Non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial 
statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation. We performed procedures 
including: 
 

• obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the 
Society’s operations; 

• obtaining an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with 
laws and regulations; 

• inspecting correspondence with the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA); and 

• enquiring of the Directors and other management of known or suspected instances of 
non-compliance. 

 
To identify risks of material misstatements due to fraud, we assessed events or conditions that 
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit 
fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included: 

 

• Enquiring of Directors and management as to whether they have knowledge of any actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud; 

• Reading Board and Audit Committee minutes; 

• Using analytical procedures to identify an unusual or unexpected relationships; 

• Considering where the financial statements could be misstated due to irregularity, 
including fraud. We identified two significant audit risks (technical provisions and 
management override of controls). Manipulation of the valuation of technical provisions 
is considered the key area in which management override of controls may manifest and 
our responses were designed to address the potential risk of fraud. In particular we 
engaged an independent external actuary as auditor’s expert to review the assumptions 
and methodology applied by the Society in the valuation of technical provisions to check 
that the methods utilised are appropriate. Additional procedures are detailed in the key 
audit matters section above and 

• We also identified unusual journal entries and tested these by understanding the rationale 
for the journal entry and corroborating to supporting documentation  
 

The engagement team was deemed to collectively have the appropriate competence and 
capabilities to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations. We 
communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any 
indications for fraud throughout the audit.  
 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate 
concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are 
inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance 
with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it. 

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 

 

http://insite.bdo.co.uk/sites/audit/Documents/www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Society’s members, as a body, in accordance with the section 73 
of the Friendly Societies Act 1992.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Society and the Society’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Thomas Reed, Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, UK 
 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with the registered 
number OC305127) 

 

 

  

14 April 2022
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Year ended 31 December 2021 



 58   

 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 

TECHNICAL ACCOUNT: LONG-TERM BUSINESS 
   

  
£’000 £’000 

Earned Premium Income 6 2,988 3,461 

Investment Income: 7 1,759 1,693 

Gains on investments: 

Unrealised gains 

Realised gains 

  
5,030 

607 

 
2,109 

- 

Other income  8 108 112 

Total technical income  10,492 7,375 

Gross benefits and claims paid  (2,263) (2,066) 

Long-term business provision 22 212 (3,495) 

 Other technical provisions – Unit-linked 22 (3,419) 2,647 

Bonuses, rebates and grants 11 (729) (601) 

Net operating expenses 9   

Administration  (1,865) (1,895) 

Investment Management  (175) (157) 

Gains on investments    

Realised (losses) on investments  - (1,047) 

  (8,239) (6,614) 

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  2,253 761 

Transfer to Fund for Future Appropriations  (2,253) (761) 

Balance on the Technical Account: Long-Term 
Business 

 - 
- 

  Statement of other comprehensive income 

Actuarial profit/(loss) in defined benefit pension fund 23 491 (386) 

Transfer: Fund for Future Appropriations (to)/from  (491) 386 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - 

 

 

The above results relate wholly to continuing activities. All business relates to long-term 

insurance products and therefore no non-technical account is presented   
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Statement of Financial Position 

Year ended 31 December 2021 
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The financial statements on pages 53 to 92 were approved by the Board on 7 April 2022 and were 

signed on its behalf by: 

Chairman 

     

Chief Executive 

    

Secretary 

  

 Notes 2021 2020 

  £’000 £’000 

ASSETS    

Investments    

- Other financial investments 14 55,336 54,853 

- Assets held to cover linked liabilities  24,988 21,362 

  80,324 76,215 

Debtors    

- Direct insurance operations 15 274 243 

- Other debtors  1 1 

Other assets    

- Tangible fixed assets 16 113 140 

- Cash at bank in hand  2,332 194 

Prepayments and accrued income    

- Accrued investment income  132 156 

- Other prepayments  33 51 

Pension scheme asset 23 1,097 606 

Total assets  84,306 77,606 

LIABILITIES 
   

Fund for future appropriations 17 29,329 26,585 

Technical provisions 22   

- Long Term Technical Provision  27,879 28,091 

- Technical Provision for Linked Liabilities 
 

24,988 21,362 

Creditors 18 1,950 1,484 

- Accruals and Deferred Income  160 84 

Total liabilities  84,306 77,606 



 61   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Notes to the 

Financial Statements 
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1. Accounting Policies 

 

 

General Information 

The Society is registered as a friendly society, Registered and Incorporated under the Friendly 

Societies Act 1992. Register No. 434F. The registered office is provided in the Society information 

on page 4. 

The financial statements are presented in UK Pound sterling, which is also the functional currency 

of the Society. The financial statements have been rounded to £000’s. 

The principal activities of the Society are disclosed in the Directors’ Report (pages 40 - 45). 

 

Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 

102 and Financial Reporting Standard 103 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council and the 

Friendly Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1994 (‘the Regulations’). 

In accordance with FRS 103 on Insurance Contracts, the Society has applied existing accounting 

practices for insurance contracts, modified as appropriate to comply with applicable standards. 

 

Cash flow statement 

Under section 7 of FRS 102 the Society is exempt from the requirements to prepare a cash flow 

statement. 
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Basis of accounting 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost basis, modified by the revaluation of 

investment. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 

process of applying the accounting policies selected for use by the Society. The areas involving a 

higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2. Use of available information and 

application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual outcomes in the 

future could differ from such estimates. 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Society has adequate resources to continue 

in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Society therefore continues to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. 

 

Premiums 

Premiums are accounted for when due for payment. All premiums arise from business written in 

the United Kingdom. Premiums received in respect of insurance business are recognised through 

the statement of comprehensive income when due for payment. The insurance contracts written 

are all in respect of income protection, health cash plan and savings contracts, which include 

some life cover. Legacy life contracts and income protection have discretionary participation 

features which are detailed in Note 4. 

Income received in respect of Child Trust Fund and ISAs is accounted for as an investment and is 

recorded through the balance sheet. The CTF policies are index linked and the movement in 

liability is recorded through the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Claims 

Provident and Endowment policy maturities are recognised when they become due. Claims for 

benefits under the terms of the contracts issued to Members are accounted for on the accruals 

basis.  Recovery of benefits overpaid to Members are accounted for upon receipt. 

Grants and rebates are recognised through profit and loss at the date of award by the Society.  

• Surrenders are accounted for on the earlier of the date payment is made or when the 

insurance contract ceases to be included within the long-term insurance contract liability 

• Death and sickness claims are accounted for when the Society is notified of the claim  

• Other claims include bonuses paid or payable 
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Investment income 

Fixed interest income and bank deposit interest are included as investment income on an 

accruals basis. Equity income is included as investment income by reference to the payment date. 

 

Realised and unrealised gains and losses 

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as the difference between net sales 

proceeds and their valuation at the last Statement of Financial Position date or, where purchased 

during the year, the purchase price. 

Unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the valuation of 

fair value assets at the Statement of Financial Position date and their valuation at the last 

Statement of Financial Position date or, where purchased during the year, the purchase price. 

 

Investments 

Investments held at the balance sheet date, where listed, have been valued at middle market 
prices or, where unlisted, at Board of Management valuation based on actuarial valuation. Units 
in Unit Trusts are included at published bid price. All investments are valued at fair value through 
profit or loss. Investments are initially recognised at the market value at which acquired and 
derecognised upon sale. 

 

Fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated on the straight-line method on the basis of estimated useful 

lives at the following rates: 

Computer system software  10-year straight line 

Computer hardware   8-year straight line 

Equipment    5-year straight line 

Motor vehicles   3-year straight line 

Computer software   3-year straight line 

 

Impairments of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Society reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Society estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
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Technical provisions 

The technical provisions are determined by the Society’s Board of Management following the 

advice of the Chief Actuary in accordance with his annual investigation on the method and 

assumptions used for the valuation for solvency. The technical provisions for accounting 

purposes for with profit liabilities consist of a best estimate liability and a risk margin. The 

calculation of the best estimate liability uses a deterministic discounted cash-flow method. The 

risk margin is calculated using the standard formula approach. The technical provisions for 

accounting purposes for the unit-linked liabilities is the total value of policy units in existence. 

 

Fund for future appropriations 

The fund for future appropriations represents all funds, the allocation of which to policy holders 

had not been determined by the end of the financial year. Any surplus or deficit on the technical 

account is transferred to or from the fund on an annual basis. 

 

Pensions 

The Society operates a defined benefits pension scheme to which some staff belong. The scheme 

is valued every three years by a professionally qualified independent actuary. In the intervening 

years, the actuary reviews the continuing appropriateness of the assumed rates. Payments to the 

scheme and amounts charged to expenses are calculated with actuarial advice and represent a 

proper charge to cover the accruing liabilities on a continuing basis. The defined benefits pension 

scheme is closed to new staff Members and future accruals are now based on a Career Average 

Revalued Earnings basis. 

For new staff Members, the Society operates a defined contribution scheme, the assets of which 

are held separately from those of the Society in an independently administered fund. 

 

Taxation 

The Society is not subject to taxation due to the exempt nature of the mutual activities provided 
to members. 

 

Cash at Bank 

Cash at bank consists of cash on hand and in bank current accounts, plus funds held for 

investment by the Society’s investment manager. 
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 

assumptions which affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates used relate to 2020. Use of available information 

and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates, together with past 

experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates. 

Fair value of financial assets 

In the prior year, the Society had an investment in subordinated debts whose value could not be 

determined using prices quoted in an active market. The Society held two subordinated debts 

with the Manchester Building Society. One of the investments was due to mature in 2022 and 

the other in 2023. However, Manchester Building Society redeemed both debts in full on 20 

December 2021. In the absence of an active market, estimation of fair value is achieved by using 

valuation techniques such as recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis and 

option pricing models. For discounted cash flow analysis, estimated future cash flows and 

discount rates are based on current market information and rates applicable to financial 

instruments with similar yields, credit quality and maturity characteristics. The valuation also 

takes into account the marketability of the assets being valued. 

Technical provisions valuation 

The technical provisions for with profits and health cash plan liabilities are based on best estimate 

financial and demographic assumptions deemed appropriate by the Board on the advice of the 

Chief Actuary. The technical provisions for accounting purposes, for the unit-linked liabilities are 

the number of units in existence multiplied by the unit price as at the valuation date which is 

detailed in Note 4. 

The assumptions used for mortality, morbidity (sickness only) and longevity are based on 

standard industry tables, adjusted where appropriate to reflect the Society’s own experience. 

The assumptions for claims experience and duration of claim for the hospitalisation product is 

based on a Society product specific table. The assumptions on lapse and surrender rates and 

discretionary cash benefit claims reflect the Society’s own experience. The assumptions on future 

claims for health cash plans are based on industry experience where possible due to the Society 

having limited claims experience of its own to date. 

The assumptions used for expenses are derived from an open fund expense investigation and are 

chosen such that the expense allowances are projected to cover the Society’s future 

management expenses. 

The assumptions used for discount rates when discounting future cash-flows are sterling risk free 

rates set by PRA. The use of the Society’s past experience to derive assumptions means the past 

claims development is used to project ultimate claims costs. Any difference between actual 

future experience and the assumptions used will result in the surplus or deficit being credited or 

charged to gross benefits and claims within the Statement of Comprehensive Income in future 

years. See Note 4 for details.  
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Valuation of the Defined Benefit Scheme 

The valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme is determined using actuarial valuations. 

The valuation includes assumptions agreed by the scheme trustees following consultation with 

the scheme actuary about discount rates, expected returns on assets and mortality rates. The 

long-term nature of these obligations means the valuation is subject to significant uncertainty. 

Note 23 includes more details on the assumptions used. 

 

 

3. Capital and Risk Management 

 

The Society seeks to create value for its Members by investing in the development of the business 

while maintaining an appropriate level of capital available. 

The risk appetite for each type of principal risk is set based on the amount necessary to meet the 

PRA’s capital requirements. 

The Society’s own funds (free asset) position is regularly reviewed to ensure it maintains an 

acceptable level of solvency. As the capital belongs to the Members, if the Society sees large 

changes in its available capital due to adverse conditions, such as an increase in morbidity, it will 

amend the level of profit allocation and bonus payable to its Members accordingly and it will 

amend the level of bonus payable to its Members having due regard to the Society’s Principles 

and Practices of Financial Management (PPFM). 

 

 

4. Capital Management 

 
Policies and objectives 

The Society’s key capital management objectives are: 

i. To ensure the Society’s strategy can be implemented and is sustainable; 

ii. To ensure the Society’s financial strength and to support the risks it takes on as part 

of its business; 

iii. To give confidence to policyholders and other stakeholders who have relationships 

with the Society; and 

iv. To comply with capital requirements imposed by its UK regulator, the PRA. 

These objectives are reviewed at least annually, and benchmarks are set by which to judge the 

adequacy of the Society’s capital. The capital position is monitored against those benchmarks to 

ensure that sufficient capital is available to the Society.  
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The assessment depends on various actuarial and other assumptions about potential changes in 

market prices, future operating experience and the actions management would take in the event 

of particular adverse changes in market conditions. 

The statutory minimum capital requirement is set within the PRA Rulebook for Solvency II firms. 

The capital requirement in the annual Solvency II return is the statutory capital requirement 

calculated as per the PRA Rulebook. Management intends to maintain capital in excess of the 

PRA’s total requirements and to hold an appropriate additional margin over this to absorb 

changes in both capital and capital requirements. The Society complied with all externally 

imposed capital requirements to which it was subject throughout the reporting period. 

The Solvency II directive (“the Directive”) is the regulatory framework for the European insurance 

industry that aims to contribute to the objective of forming one single insurance services.  The 

framework also has the aim of increasing protection for policyholders by reducing the possibility 

of consumer loss or market disruption in the insurance industry.   

The UK’s withdrawal from the European Union (EU) on 31 January 2020, and subsequent ending 

of the transition period on 31 December 2020, means that EU law, and therefore regulations, no 

longer apply in the UK.  

In order to ensure the UK remained functional, the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the 

Act) was passed in June 2018, enabling EU law to be converted into UK law at the end of the 

transition period.  This new law is referred to as retained EU law. 

The Act allows HM Treasury, the Bank of England and the regulators: the Prudential Regulation 

Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority to make changes to the retained law where it is 

no longer appropriate for the UK.  This is referred to as onshoring. 

Under the temporary transitional power, which has been granted to the regulators by the 

Government, firms are able to delay allowing for any changes as a result of onshoring until 

31 March 2022.  Due to these arrangements, firms should continue to comply with the Solvency 

II regulations that applied immediately prior to the end of the transition period. 
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Capital Statement 

The following summarises the capital resource requirements of the Society as determined for UK 
regulatory purposes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*The value in force is equal to the total discounted value of future net cash-flows with each 

monthly cash-flow calculated as the cost of administering and servicing a policy less the value of 

the annual management charge applied to the policy. A positive value in the table above indicates 

the future income from the annual management charge will exceed the future costs of 

administering the policies. 

The total available capital resources of the Society’s long-term insurance business amount to 

£30,572,259, (2020: £27,808,603). The Society’s regulatory solvency capital requirement (“SCR”) 

is £14,162,087, (2020: £10,416,377) resulting in a surplus of available capital resources over SCR 

of £16,410,172, (2020: £17,392,226). 

The Society’s regulatory minimum capital requirement (“MCR”) is £3,540,522, (2020: 

£3,337,696). 

Set out below are the details of how the available capital resources have been calculated, the 

restrictions in place over the available capital resources, the basis of calculating the regulatory 

capital requirements and an explanation of the change in available capital. 

Basis of calculation of available capital resources 

The available capital of the Long-Term Insurance Fund has been determined in accordance with 

the PRA’s rulebook for Solvency II firms and includes the Funds for Future Appropriations (“FFA”). 

The FFA represents surplus funds of the Society which have not been allocated to Members and 

is available to meet the regulatory and solvency requirements of the Society. 

The significant assumptions used to determine the technical provisions can be found later in this 

note. These assumptions have been derived based on recent and adequate analysis of past 

experience. 

  

 2021 2020 

Available Capital Resources     £    £ 

Fund for Future Appropriations 29,328,706 26,584,309 

   

Adjustments onto regulatory basis:   

Unit-linked Value-in-Force * 1,243,553 1,224,294 

   

Total Available Capital Resources 30,572,259 27,808,603 
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Restrictions on available capital 

The available surplus held in the Society’s Long-Term Insurance Fund can only be applied to meet 

the requirements of the fund itself or be distributed to the Members. 

Basis of calculation of capital requirements 

The SCR is determined in accordance with the requirements of the PRA Rulebook for Solvency II 

firms. The SCR is the additional capital above the technical provisions (for solvency purposes) 

required to be held to cover the capital losses if a 1 in 200-year event occurs for risks the Society 

is subjected to. The SCR covers insurance, market, counterparty default and operational risks. 

The Society calculates its SCR using the standard formula approach and the formulae is outlined 

within the PRA Rulebook for Solvency II firms. If the Society has insufficient capital to cover its 

SCR, the Society must inform the PRA. 

Insurance Risk 
The insurance risks for the Society’s products fall within either the life or the health underwriting 

risk modules of the standard formula. These modules consider the risk arising from underwriting 

the Society’s products. The health underwriting risk is calculated based on the similar to life 

techniques (SLT) health underwriting and health catastrophe risk sub-modules. 

 

Life Underwriting Risk: 
The particular risks considered in this risk module and the stresses required are: 

Mortality - the loss in own funds that would result from an instantaneous permanent increase of 

15% in mortality rates 

Longevity - the loss in own finds that would result from an instantaneous permanent decrease of 

20% in the mortality rates 

Disability-morbidity - the loss in own funds that would result from the combination of the 

following instantaneous permanent changes: 
 

• an increase of 35% in the disability and morbidity incidence rates for 12 months from the 

reporting date and then 25% thereafter 

• a decrease of 20% in the disability and morbidity recovery rates 

 

Expense - the loss in own funds from the combination of the following instantaneous permanent 

changes: 
 

• an increase of 10 % in the amount of expenses 

• an increase of 1% to expense inflation 

 

Lapse - the loss in own funds from the following three scenarios, with the scenario having the 

greatest impact being used to calculate the loss: 
 

• lapses are 50% higher than expected 

• lapses are 50% lower than expected 

• a one-off, instantaneous mass lapse of 40%  
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Life Catastrophe - the loss in own funds that would result from an instantaneous increase of 0.15 

percentage points to the mortality rates for 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

Health (SLT) Underwriting Risk: 

The particular risks considered for this risk module and the stresses required are the same as the 

those for the life underwriting risk module along with the addition of health catastrophe stresses 

which includes the loss in own funds resulting from: 

• a mass accident - the impact of a catastrophic event occurring whilst lots of people are in the 

same place at the same time  

• concentration - impact of a disaster occurring that affects a group of policyholders that work in 

the same building or area  

• pandemic risks – impact due to treatment being sought during a pandemic which causes non-

lethal claims 

 

Market Risk 

The Society’s assets or liabilities may be subject to various risks which may cause their value to 

fluctuate. The risks considered within the standard formula are: 

  

Interest rate risk: 

This risk considers the sensitivity to changes (up or down) in risk free rates. The PRA Rulebook 

prescribes the changes in risk free rates which must be applied for each term. 

 

Equity risk: 

This risk considers the sensitivity to changes in the market prices of equities. The standard equity 

stresses for type 1 and type 2 equities are 39% and 49% respectively, plus a symmetric 

adjustment. Type 1 equities are those listed on regulatory markets in countries that are Members 

of the European Economic Area or Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 

Type 2 equities are all other equities. 

 

Property risk: 

This risk considers the sensitivity to changes in property values or markets prices of property 

based funds. The stress is an instantaneous decrease of 25% in the value of property. 

 

Spread risk: 

This risk considers the sensitivity to the widening of credit spreads, with the spread being the 

additional return over the risk free rates. The PRA Rulebook prescribes the stress factors which 

must be applied based on the credit rating and duration of the assets or liabilities. 
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Currency risk: 

This risk considers the sensitivity to changes in currency exchange rates. The stresses are an 

instantaneous increase or decrease of 25% in the value of foreign currency against the local 

currency (Sterling for the Society). The risk has to be calculated on a currency by currency basis 

when assessing the net impact on assets and liabilities. 

Concentration risk: 

This is an additional risk stemming either from lack of diversification or from large exposure to a 

single issuer of assets or a group of related issuers. The PRA Rulebook prescribes the stress factors 

and excess thresholds for calculating the concentration risk. 

 

Counterparty Default Risk 

This risk considers the potential losses due to unexpected default, or the deterioration in the 

credit worthiness of counterparties and debtors which are not included within the market 

concentration risk. The PRA Rulebook prescribes the probabilities of default and loss given 

default based on credit ratings. 

 

Operational Risk 

This captures the risk arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel or systems, 

or from external events. 

 

Correlation 

The PRA Rulebook prescribes the correlation factors between the different risks within the 

individual life underwriting, health underwriting, market and counterparty default risk modules, 

and also the factors between these modules. Correlation is used as it is assumed that not all risks 

may be independent of each other. 

The MCR represents the level of capital which, if the Society is unable to cover, would trigger 

serious intervention from the PRA. The MCR is calculated using a formulaic approach which is set 

out within the PRA rulebook for Solvency II firms. The MCR has an absolute floor of €3.7m which 

is converted to pound sterling using an official currency exchange rate issued by the PRA. The 

formulaic MCR for the Society is greater than the absolute floor and is currently equal to 25% of 

the SCR which is £3,540,522. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Society’s total available capital resources moved from £27,808,603 

to £30,572,259 (216% of the solvency capital requirement). 

The Society’s technical provisions (for solvency purposes) moved from £48,228,981 to 

£51,623,462. The following table below summarises the factors affecting the movement in these 

technical provisions: 
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Description 2021 
(£000) 

2020 
(£000) 

Opening Balance 48,229 46,630 

Change in models 35 15 

Expected cashflows 67 375 

Unwinding of discount rate 
(32) 
 

179 

Changes in data (excluding new business) (381) 464 

Changes in non-economic assumptions 88 392 

Changes in unit-linked policy unit prices 3,170 (2,464) 

Changes in economic assumptions 129 2,558 

New business written 318 109 

Closing Balance 51,623 48,229 

 

The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted directly and indirectly on available capital for the Society. 

The Society has incurred much higher than expected sickness and hospitalisation claims during 

2021. The Society paid claims for policyholders who were self-isolating or shielding due to the 

pandemic as well as those who had tested positive with the infection. 

The Society experienced a small number of death claims where the cause of death was attributed 

to Covid-19. 

Due to social distancing and national/local lockdown restrictions, the Society’s Development 

Managers were unable to enter bus garages during extended periods of 2021. This limited the 

Society’s ability to achieve new business premium targets within its Business Plan. 

The above impacts have resulted in additional Covid-19 related allowances within the calculation 

of technical provisions. These additional allowances are: 

• an explicit liability for future Covid-19 related sickness and hospitalisation claims 

This liability added £350K to the technical provisions. 

• an explicit liability for future Covid-19 related death claims 

This liability added £100K to the technical provisions. 

There have been no other changes in management policy or any other factors that affect the 

total amount of available capital for the business. 

Morbidity experience has a significant impact on the technical provisions for the Society’s 

sickness business. The Society monitors sickness claims throughout the year to determine if any 

observed increase may imply a worsening of sickness experience.  
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The Society’s lapse and surrender experience also has a material impact on technical provisions. 

Lower lapse and surrender rates increase the total best estimate liability. The Society monitors 

profitability of its current open products to assess new business strains and any adverse impact 

they may have on the Society. 

For conventional with profits business, there is a sensitivity to the assumed discount rates used 

for discounting within the technical provision calculations. The discount rates are set by the PRA. 

The mix of assets is kept under review taking into account the level of capital resources required 

and the anticipated returns for Members. 

Increases in management expenses have a material impact on the technical provisions. The 

Society manages this by: 

• taking steps to increase premium income and Membership; 

• setting budgets for expenditure; 

• reviewing management accounts to monitor actual expenses to budget. 

The table below summarises the movement in capital during the year: 

 

 £’000 

Balance at 1 January 2021 27,809 

Change in models 36 

Actual policy cashflows (1,839) 

Expected policy cashflows (67) 

Change in data 271 

New business (269) 

Investment return and other income 7,534 

Assumptions – non-economic (82) 

Assumptions – economic (3,345) 

Change in risk margin 32 

Change in pension scheme surplus 491 

Other 1 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 30,572 
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Measurement and monitoring of capital 

The Society’s capital position is monitored on a regular basis and reviewed formally on a quarterly 

basis by the Board of Management. These objectives are reviewed and benchmarks are set by 

which to judge the adequacy of the Society’s capital and ensure that sufficient capital is available. 

The Society’s capital requirements are forecast on a regular basis and compared against the 

available capital and the Society’s minimum internal rate of return. The internal rate of return 

forecast to be achieved on potential investments is also measured against minimum required 

benchmarks taking into account the risks associated with the investment. 

In the event that sufficient capital is not available, actions would be taken either to raise 

additional capital or to reduce the amount of risk accepted thereby reducing the capital 

requirement through, for example, reinsurance, reducing business volumes or a change in 

investment strategy. 

 

Available capital – long-term insurance contracts 

The liabilities are determined in accordance with the regulations of the PRA. For with profits 

business an allowance is made for actions that management would take in adverse conditions 

such as reducing bonus rates, applying market value adjustments to surrender values and 

reducing discretionary cash benefits. The assets are taken at market value or approximated 

where required. The whole of the available capital resources within the fund is available to meet 

regulatory and solvency requirements. 

 

Sensitivity of long-term insurance contract liabilities 

The value of the long-term insurance contract liabilities is sensitive to changes in risk free rates 

and in the demographic assumptions used in the calculation, such as morbidity, mortality and 

lapse and surrender rates. 

Risk free rates – The calculation for technical provisions requires assumptions on discount rates. 

These discount rates to be used are based on risk free rates published by the PRA. Risk free rates 

are affected by market conditions and changes in risk free rates may reduce the level of available 

capital resources. 

Demographic assumptions – Changes in the mortality, morbidity, expense levels or lapses and 

surrenders experienced by the business may result in the need to change the assumptions used 

to value the liabilities. This may increase or reduce the value placed on the liabilities. The 

sensitivity of the liabilities to changes in the assumptions varies according to the type of business. 

  



 76   

 

Mortality 

Mortality assumptions are based on published standard mortality tables. These are then adjusted 

by applying a percentage based on an analysis of the Society’s experience over five years from  

1 January 2016 to December 2020. The following table shows the mortality assumptions used. 

 

Product 
Mortality Rate  
(% of Life Table) 

Endowments 65% 

Old Death – Contributing and Free Card 70% 

Old Death – Paid Up 5% 

Old Death – Spousal Contributing and Free Card 55% 

Old Death – Spousal Paid Up 5% 

New Death 30% 

Provident 35% 

Sickness (SN, SP & SR) 45% 

Sickness (SI & SD) 45% 

Sickness (SN, SP & SR) In Deferment Only 40% 

Sickness (SI & SD) In Deferment Only 35% 

Hospitalisation 80% 

Hospitalisation In Deferment Only 60% 

CTF 25% 

 

The standard mortality tables used for all products, except the CTF, are the AMC00/ AFC00 tables. 

The mortality table used for the CTF is the English Life Table number 16 table (ELT16). The 

mortality assumption used for the CTF Protected Accounts and ISA products is 85% of AMC00/ 

AFC00 tables. This assumption is based on the mortality rates assumed within the development 

of the product and will be adjusted in future years as the Society gains more experience. 

For this reporting date, the calculation of technical provisions required an additional explicit 

liability of £100K for future Covid-19 related death claims. The liability has been set based on the 

Society’s Covid-19 claims experience during 2020 and 2021, and current developments of the 

pandemic at the time of deriving the valuation assumptions. 
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Lapses 

The lapse rate assumptions are based on analysis of the Society’s experience over three years 

from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. The lapse rates represent combined lapse, surrender 

and resignation rates for with profit products and transfers out for CTF, CTF Protected Accounts 

and ISA policies. The following table shows the lapse assumptions used. 

 

Product  Year Since Commencement  

 
1 2 3 4 5 6+ 

Endowments: 13% 12% 7% 7% 9% 5% 

Old Death: 
     

1% 

New Death: 
     

3% 

Provident: 
     

1% 

Sickness (SN, SP & SR) 26% 17% 16% 11% 9% 7% 

Sickness (SI & SD) 
     

4% 

Hospitalisation: 31% 20% 15% 12% 18% 8% 

CTF      0.2% 

 

The lapse assumption for the CTF Protected Accounts is 8% for all durations. The assumptions for 

the ISA policies is 10% in the first year and 8% for each year thereafter.  Partial withdrawals at 

1.5%pa are assumed for the ISA policies.  These assumptions are based on the rates assumed 

within the development of the products and will be adjusted in future years as the Society gains 

more experience. 

 

Cancellation 

Cancellation rates apply to certain products and refers to when a policyholder cancels a policy 

within the first 30 days after commencement. 

The cancellation rate assumptions are based on analysis of the Society’s experience over three 

years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. The following table shows the cancellation 

assumptions used. 

 

 

 

 

  

Product Assumption 

Endowments 4% 

Sickness (SP & SR) 5% 

Hospitalisation 4% 
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Expenses 

The expense assumptions have been set based on the most recent open fund expense analysis 

for the Society. The following table below shows the expense assumptions used: 

 

Expense Allowance Assumption 

Allowance as a per policy cost (Renewal – Life, CTF Protected 
Account and ISA  Policies) £3.80pa 

Allowance as a per policy cost (Renewal - Sickness and 

Hospitalisation Policies) 
£10.80pa 

Allowance as a per policy cost (CTF) £0.80pa 

Allowance as percentage of premiums (Renewal Best Estimate – 
With Profits) 16% 

Allowance as percentage of premiums (Renewal Mass Lapse – With 
Profits) 19.5% 

CTF, CTF Protected Accounts and ISA annual management charge 1.5% 

Allowance as percentage of funds under management (With Profits) 1.0% 

Allowance as percentage of funds under management (CTF) 0.1% 

Allowance as percentage of funds under management (CTF 
Protected Accounts and ISAs) 0.4% 

Expense Inflation (applied to per policy costs) 3.75% pa 

 

The expense assumptions for the CTF Protected Accounts and ISAs shown in the table above are 

the assumptions assumed within the development of the product and will be adjusted in future 

years as the Society gains more experience. 

 

Morbidity rates for Sickness and Hospitalisation policies 

Morbidity rates are based on an analysis of the Society’s experience over five years from  

1 January 2016 to 31 December 2020. 

For this reporting date, the calculation of technical provisions required an additional explicit 

liability of £350K for future Covid-19 related sickness and hospitalisation claims. The liability has 

been set based on the Society’s Covid-19 claims experience during 2020 and 2021, and current 

developments of the pandemic at the time of deriving the valuation assumptions. 
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Inception rates 

The inception rates for the sickness policies are set as an initial proportion of CMIR12 inception 

rates (deferred period 1 week basis for all SI, SN, SP and SR products and deferred period 26 

weeks basis for the SD product) with additional loadings for occupation and for female 

policyholders. The following table shows the initial proportions of the CMIR12 inception rates 

and additional loadings used: 

 

Product 

Initial Proportion 
of  CMIR 12 

Inception Rates 

Occupational 

Class Loading 

Female  
Gender  
Loading 

SI 45% 75% 20% 

SD 140% 75% 20% 

SN1, SP1 & SR1 70% 75% 50% 

SN2, SP2 & SR2 105% 75% 40% 

SN3 & SP3 145% 75% 55% 

 

For hospitalisation, the inception rates are set as an initial proportion of a product specific 

expected inception rate table with an additional loading for female policyholders. The rates 

within the product specific table are between 2.5% and 6.5% for a 16 and 64 year old respectively. 

The rates for intermediate ages are calculated using straight linear interpolation. The initial 

proportion assumption is 60% and the female gender loading is 75%. 
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Recovery rates 

The recovery rates are calculated as a proportion of the CMIR12 tables. The rates vary by product, 

gender and duration of sickness. The rates used are shown in the following table: 

 

  Male                Female  

 
Weeks of 
Sickness 

 
SI 

SN1/SP1 
/SR1 

SN2/SP2 

/SR2 

 
SN3/S

P3 

 
SI 

SN1/SP1 

/SR1 

SN2/SP2 

/SR2 

 
SN3/ SP3 

1 51% 36% 36% 36% 51% 32% 32% 32% 

2 73% 78% 78% 78% 73% 68% 68% 68% 

3 84% 84% 84% 84% 84% 75% 75% 75% 

4 40% 90% 90% 90% 40% 91% 91% 91% 

5 70% 137% 137% 137% 70% 135% 135% 135% 

6 67%  96% 96% 67%  91% 91% 

7 80%  111% 111% 80%  100% 100% 

8 133%  137% 137% 133%  131% 131% 

9 66%  107% 107% 66%  113% 113% 

10 - 12 144%  332% 332% 144%  297% 297% 

13+ 318%   267% 318%   233% 

 

The recovery rate assumption for the SD product is the same as the weeks 13+ assumption for 

the SI product, for all durations of sickness. 

For the hospitalisation policies, instead of using recovery rates, the expected hospitalisation 

benefits are calculated using assumptions on the duration of the hospitalisation stay. A product 

specific table of expected durations of hospitalisation (in days) is used. The expected duration for 

a 16 year old is 3 days and for a 64 year old is 20 days. Straight linear interpolation is used to 

calculate the expected duration in hospital for the intermediate ages. The assumptions used are 

46% and 28% of the product specific table for males and females respectively. 

 

Discretionary Cash Benefit Claims 

Each eligible policy is assumed to claim £8.70 per annum in discretionary cash benefits. This is 

based on analysis of the Society’s experience over the previous four calendar years, taking into 

account the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the ability for policyholders to access 

appointments and treatments in 2020 and 2021, and allowing for an increase in the maximum 

benefit levels due to be applied in 2022.  The assumption used for 2020 was £6.50 per annum 

and the increase to £8.70 per annum for 2021 reflects the future increase in maximum benefit 

levels of 33%.  
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IBNR Claims 

The IBNR claims for sickness and hospitalisation policies is calculated as 2 (half of the assumed 

claim delay period of 4 months) multiplied by the monthly average of the last three calendar 

years total sickness and hospitalisation benefit claims. 

The IBNR claims for life policies is calculated as 4.5 (half of the assumed claim delay period of 9 

months) multiplied by the monthly average of the last three calendar years total surrender and 

death benefit claims. 

For the previous reporting date, the calculation of technical provisions required an addition to 

the IBNR claims reserve for those policies which may have lapsed or surrendered if the Covid-19 

pandemic had not impacted on the normal arrears reminder process. The additional liability was 

calculated as 75% of the surrender values for the applicable policies.  For the current reporting 

date, this additional IBNR reserve was not required as the Society had completed its review of all 

policies affected by the reminder process issues. 

Discount Rates 

Discount rates are used to discount the expected future net cash-flows for the calculation of 

technical provisions. The discount rates are based on risk free rates provided by the PRA for 

December 2021. PRA publishes monthly sets of risk free rates for the purposes of Solvency II 

calculations. As the Society’s liabilities are all denominated in Sterling, the GBP risk free rate curve 

is used. 

Future Bonuses and Sensitivity Analysis 

The Society pays bonuses on some of its life assurance business and pays a maturity benefit of 

an accrued no-claims bonus for each year that the member does not claim sickness benefits. The 

rates assumed have been such that the best estimate liability for a product group is calibrated to 

be approximately equal to the current asset shares (where possible). This is in line with the 

current pay out policy. 

A summary of the changes in the best estimate liability due to certain changes in demographic 

assumptions are as follows (note the best estimate liability for the unit- linked policies within 

these sensitivity tests includes the value-in-force): 

Increases and decreases in risk free rates generally reduce and increase the value of liabilities 

respectively. An increase of 1% to risk free rates reduces the best estimate liability by £3,168,069. 

A decrease of 1% to risk free rates increases the best estimate liability by £3,923,614. 

An increase in morbidity experience increases the expected future sickness benefits paid out by 

the Society. A 35% increase in inceptions in the first year after the valuation date and then 25% 

for each year thereafter combined with a 20% decrease in recovery rates for all durations of 

sickness increases the best estimate liability by £3,595,529. 

An increase in mortality would result in benefits being paid out, and policies exiting, earlier than 

expected. A 15% increase in the mortality rates decreases the best estimate liability by £5,423.  
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A decrease in mortality delays the benefits being paid out, and policies exiting, later than 

expected. A 20% decrease in mortality rates decreases the best estimate liability by £25,644. 

An increase in the expense assumptions (caused by increases in management expenses) would 

result in an increase in the best estimate liability. A 10% increase in the expense allowances plus 

an additional 1% added to expense inflation increases the best estimate liability by £1,357,660. 

An increase in lapse rates would result in an increase in surrender claims (where applicable) and 

policies exiting earlier than expected. A 50% increase in lapse rates decreases the best estimate 

liability by £1,683,391. 

A decrease in lapse rates would result in a decrease in surrender claims (where applicable) and 

policies exiting later than expected. A 50% decrease in lapse rates increases the best estimate 

liability by £2,759,451. 
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5. Risk management and control 

 

Risk Management has a regular place on agendas for the Committee and Senior Management 

Team meetings. 

The primary risks the Society faces are as follows: 

 

Insurance risk 

This is the risk associated with writing insurance contracts. Each contract has an inherent risk that 

claims experience will be higher than estimated. Insurance risk and the sensitivities associated 

with this are detailed in Note 4. 

 

Lower growth volumes 

The Society establishes and allocates resources based on growth assumptions. If these are not 

met then the income may not support the cost base of the Society. 

 

Lapses 

Future profits on contracts will depend on policy longevity. A change in lapse experience may 

impact on profitability. Sensitivity to lapse risk is included in Note 4. 

 

Expense risk 

The risk that expenses exceed expectations. Sensitivity to expense risk is included in Note 4. 
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Market risk 

The inherent risk is in investing in financial assets and the interest rates used to discount 

cashflows within the calculation of technical provisions. A summary of the main market risks the 

Society is exposed to, is included in Note 4. 

The Society’s assets are sufficiently diversified across the major asset classes. The following table 

shows the asset allocation for non-unit-linked assets (excluding other current assets and the 

pension scheme asset) as at 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

 

Asset class % 

Government bonds 31.4 

Corporate bonds and subordinated debt 6.9 

UK equities 26.9 

Overseas equities 30.4 

Property 2.4 

Cash deposits 2.1 

Total 100 

 

Unit-linked policyholders bear the risks on their investments. The assets held to cover unit-linked 

liabilities within the balance sheet are £24,988K (2020: £21,362K). 

The Society’s deposit balances are £2,332K (2020: £194K).  The increase in the balances since the 

previous reporting date is due increases in the balances within the Society’s investment portfolio 

and for the Society’s current account.  The balance within the investment portfolio is not a long 

term investment position, and most of the funds will be reinvested into other asset classes.  The 

large balance within the Society’s current account is due to the proceeds of a subordinated debt 

redemption not being invested into the Society’s main investment portfolio by the reporting 

date.  Under the standard formula SCR calculation, the cash balances are treated under 

counterparty default risk rather than market risk. 
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The major sources of market risk and their sensitivity to movements in value (where appropriate) 

are: 

 

Interest Rate Risk: 

The Society is exposed to interest rate risk for assets within its bond investment portfolio and for 

the risk free rates used to calculate technical provisions. 

Based on the interest rate risks as per the calculation of the SCR under standard formula, the 

decrease in asset values due to the impact of interest rates increasing is £2.7m. The best estimate 

liabilities would fall by £3.0m leading to a gain to the FFA of £0.3m before any management 

actions. 

The increase in asset values due to the impact of interest rates decreasing is £0.8m. The best 

estimate liabilities would increase by £1.0m leading to a loss to the FFA of £0.2m before any 

management actions. 

The sensitivity of the Society’s liabilities to a 1% increase or decrease in risk free rates is included 

in Note 4. 

 

Equity Risk: 

All equity investments held by the Society are listed, level 1 investments (see Note 13) and consist 

of directly held shares or investments in collective investment schemes. Based on the total value 

of equity investments backing non unit-linked liabilities, each 10% movement in equity markets 

would lead to a gain/ (loss) to the FFA of £3.2m before any management actions. There are no 

directly held derivative instruments to mitigate this risk. 

 

Currency Risk: 

The Society invests in overseas equities via collective investment schemes. Based on the total 

value of the value of these collective investment schemes, a 10% movement in all currencies 

against the value of Sterling would lead to a gain / (loss) to the FFA of £1.7m before any 

management actions. 

 

Property Risk: 

The Society invests in property via property based funds such as real estate investment trusts. 

Based on the total values of these funds, a 10% movement in property value would lead to a 

gain/(loss) to the FFA of £0.1m before any management actions. 
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Spread (credit) Risk: 

The main source of spread risk is the Society’s corporate bond investments. Based on these 

assets, the widening of credit spreads as per the calculation of the SCR under the standard 

formula would lead to a loss in value to the FFA of £0.8m before any management actions. The 

breakdown of the Society’s corporate bond and subordinated debt investments by credit quality 

is given in the following table (the Society’s UK government bonds holdings are deemed not to 

be a source of spread risk under current regulations): 

 

Credit 

Quality Step 

(CQS) 

 

2021 

£’000 

 

2020 

£’000 

1       0    0 

2   226    854 

3 2,988 5,224 

4    621  1,379 

5      0    207 

6       0       0 

Unrated      0    212 

Total 3,835 7,877 

 

The credit quality steps are assigned as per the Implementing Technical Standards on the 

mapping of credit assessments of External Credit Assessment Institutions for credit risk under 

the Capital Requirements Regulation. 

The Society’s UK government bond holdings have a total market value of £17,699k (2020: 
£16,772k) and have a CQS of 1. 

The Society's diversified investments in equity shares and unit trusts have a total market value of 
£33,802k (2020: £30,204k).  It has not been possible to obtain credit ratings for these 
investments. 

The Society holds cash at bank of £2,332k (2020: £194k).  £1,200k (2020: £117k) of the cash at 
bank represents deposits held with the Society’s investment manager.   It has not been possible 
to obtain the details of the banks in which the investment manager’s deposits are invested, or 
their attaching credit ratings.   As such the banks are treated as being unrated.  £1,132k    (2020: 
£77k) of the cash at bank represents the Society’s own cash at bank balance held with Unity Trust.  
No credit rating is available for Unity Trust, and as such it is treated as being unrated. 

In addition, the Society has £440k (2020: £451k) of debtors which are treated as unrated. 

The cash at bank and debtor assets are not considered to have spread risk for the purposes of 

calculating capital requirements.   
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Concentration Risk 

The Society invests in directly held UK government bonds, corporate bonds and equity shares. It 

also invests in equity collective investment schemes which are pooled funds of equity based 

investments and property funds. An analysis of all directly held assets and underlying assets 

within the collective investment schemes by issuing group, as per the calculation of the SCR under 

standard formula, indicates that the Society’s investments are well diversified. UK government 

bonds are not considered as a source of concentration risk. 

 

Default Risk 

This is the risk that counterparties will default on debts owed to the Society. For investment 

assets this is considered under the concentration risk section of market risk above. The assets 

exposed to default risk for the purposes of capital requirements are cash balances, debt securities 

and debtors. As stated above, the Society’s cash balances are held with Unity Trust for which no 

credit rating is available, and as such is treated as being unrated. No ratings exists for the Society’s 

debtors.  

 

Liquidity Risk 

The risk of having insufficient readily realisable assets to liquidate in the case of a catastrophe. 

The Society monitors spikes in liquidity and the longer-term aim is to achieve sufficient income 

to match day to day outgoings. Working capital is maintained to allow payment of all short term 

expenses and claims with investments held in highly liquid assets, including UK government 

bonds and equity investments which can be sold in the event that liquidity is required. 

Amounts under unit-linked insurance contracts are generally repayable on demand and the 

Society is responsible for ensuring there is sufficient liquidity within the asset portfolio to enable 

liabilities to unit-linked policyholders to be met as they fall due. With profits insurance contracts 

can be surrendered before maturity for a cash surrender value. Liquidity risk can be managed by 

the Society exercising its discretion to adjust the level of final bonus payable on early surrender. 

The undiscounted cashflows (excluding unit-linked) from policies and the Society’s government 

and corporate bond investments are shown in the table below. The policy cashflows have been 

derived from the calculation of the long term technical provisions (excluding the risk margin) on 

the balance sheet and represent cash outflows (claims, expenses and other outflows) less cash 

inflows (premiums). The bond cashflows are those expected to be received by the Society based 

on the current bond portfolio. 
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2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2020 

 
Year(s) 

Undiscounted Policy 
Cashflows 
£’000 

Undiscounted Bond 
Cashflows 
£’000 

< 1 year 0 753 

2 – 5 years 3,713 3,266 

6 – 10 years 8,536 6,205 

11 – 15 years 4,676 3,620 

16 – 20 years 3,467 4,719 

20+ years 7,167 9,751 

Total 27,589 28,314 

Technical 
provision as per 

Balance sheet 
(discounted plus 
Risk Margin) 

28,091 - 

Total Bonds as per 
balance sheet 

 23,986 

  

 

Year(s) 

Undiscounted Policy 

Cashflows 

£’000 

Undiscounted Bond 

Cashflows 

£’000 

< 1 year 786 447 

2 – 5 years 6,583 3,154 

6 – 10 years 8,205 7,684 

11 – 15 years 4,277 3,800 

16 – 20 years 3,274 4,002 

20+ years 6,138 7,969 

Total 29,263 27,056 

Technical provision 

as per Balance 
sheet (discounted 

plus Risk Margin) 

27,879  

Total Bonds as per 
balance sheet 

 21,533 



 89   

 

Conduct Risk 

 

The way the Society and its staff behave is extremely important and both Conduct risk and 

Treating Customers Fairly are embedded throughout the organisation. 

The Society uses its Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA), Risk Appetite Statement and Risk 

Register to monitor current and potential risks that could affect its solvency adversely. 

An overall risk tolerance is established which is expressed as a minimum level of solvency above 

the PRA minimum threshold. To maintain long-term stability and security, the Society targets an 

Estate (free asset) of 150% to 250% of the required capital required under the prudential regime. 

Individual risk appetites are then established for each of the primary risks the Society faces. If 

these appetite limits are breached then management actions would have to be taken which may 

include: 

• Reducing annual bonuses and/or terminal bonuses 

• Reducing costs 

• Raising premiums for new business 

• Reducing discretionary cash benefits 

No breach of our risk tolerance or risk appetites has occurred in the year ended 31 December 

2021.  
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6. Income 

 

Premiums represent individual premiums paid periodically and are all written in the UK. 

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

Earned premium income 2,988 3,461 

 

7. Investment Income 

 

 

8. Other Income 

 

 

9. Operating Expenses 

 

  

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

Income from listed investments 1,735 1,667 

Income from other investments 24 26 

Investment Income 1,759 1,693 

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

Grants 108 104 

Profit on sale of fixed assets - 8 

 108 112 

 2021 2020 

a) Administration costs: £’000 £’000 

Board fees 254 245 

Staff salaries 547 616 

Social security costs 90 90 

Pension costs 114 108 

Audit fees 99 50 

Depreciation of fixed assets 48 69 

Other administration costs 713 717 
 1,865 1,895 

b) Investment Management:   

Fund managers fees 175 157 

Net operating costs 2,039 2,052 
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10. Net Surplus for the Financial Year 

 

Unrecoverable VAT was incurred @ 20% for the above items.  

 

11. Bonus, Rebates and Grants 

 

 

12. Staff Numbers and Costs 

 

 

 

  

 2021 2020 
 £’000 £’000 

Is stated after charging:   

Depreciation charge for the year 48 69 

Auditor’s remuneration (inclusive of VAT):   

Audit 99 50 

Actuaries remuneration (inclusive of VAT):   

Chief Actuary & With Profits Actuary 185 234 

 2021 2020 
 £’000 £’000 

Bonuses 622 517 

Cash Distribution from Death and Sick fund 1 - 

Grants 106 84 

 729 601 

The average number of persons employed by the 
Society in the year was as follows: 2021 2020 

Non-executive Board Members 8 7 

Staff administration 17 17 

 25 24 

The aggregate staff payroll costs were as follows: 2021 2020 
 £’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 801 861 

Social Security costs 90 90 

Other pension costs 114 108 

 1,005 1,059 
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13. Board Emoluments 

 
 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 
Total emoluments 281 272 

 

 

Other Benefits include contributions to a money purchase pension scheme of £27,016. 

 

  

 
Salary 

Other 
Benefits 

Total 
2021 

Total  
2020 

 
£ £ £ £ 

Angell, Christopher Leon - - - 10,344 

Barker, Stephen Richard 12,977 - 12,977 14,357 

Brown, Peter Stewart 24,979 - 24,979 24,356 

Hutton, Barry 14,987 - 14,987 8,557 

Jeffrey, Christopher William 13,431 - 13,431 13,232 

Rudyk, Peter 8,943  8,943 - 

Silby, Nigel Frederick 22,208 - 22,208 21,867 

Storer, Michael 9,637 - 9,637 8,935 

Fairless, Elaine 16,211 - 16,211 15,376 

Ramezankhani, Ali 130,942 27,016 157,958 155,082 

Total 254,315 27,016 281,331 272,106 

The emoluments of the Board fell within the following bands: 2021 2020 

£0-£5,000 - - 

£5,001-£10,000 2 2 

£10,001-£15,000 3 3 

£15,001-£20,000 1 1 

£20,001-£25,000 2 2 

Over £25,000 1 1 

Including: 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

Chairman 25 24 

Chief Executive 158 155 

 

The Chief Executive is also a member of the Board, as such, his remuneration is included 
above. 
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14. Investments 

 

Fair value measurement 

 

The fair values of level 1 investments have been determined at prices quoted in an active market. 

The fair values of level 2 investments have been calculated using valuation techniques that take 

account of observable market data. All investments are measured at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

 

Included within shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts is £24,988,000 

(2020: £21,362,000) held to cover linked unit linked liabilities. 

The Society held two subordinated debts with the Manchester Building Society. One of the 

investments was due to mature in 2022 and the other in 2023. However, Manchester Building 

Society redeemed both debts in full on 20 December 2021. 

 

 

15. Debtors 

 

  

 2021 2020 

 
Shares and other variable yield securities 
and units in unit trusts 

Level 1 
£’000 

Level 2 

£’000 

Level 1 
£’000 

Level 2 
£’000 

58,790 - 51,566 - 

Debt securities and other fixed income 

securities 
21,534 - 23,986 - 

Subordinated deposits - - - 663 

 80,324 - 75,552 663 

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

 

Debtors in respect of contributions 
 

274 

 

243 

Other debtors 1 1 

 275 244 
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16. Tangible Assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17. Fund for Future Appropriations 

 

 

 

 

  

 
Cost 
£’000 

 
Computer 

System 
£’000 

Furniture 
Equipment 

& Software 
£’000 

 
Motor 

Vehicles 
£’000 

 

Total 
£’000 

At 1 January 2021 263 178 102 543 

Additions 21   21 

Disposals     

At 31 December 2021 284 178 102 564 

Depreciation     

At 1 January 2021 174 168 61 403 

Charge for the year 15 5 28 48 

Disposals     

At 31 December 2021 189 173 89 450 

Net book value: 
    

At 31 December 2021 95 5 13 113 

At 31 December 2020 89 10 41 140 

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 January 26,585 26,210 

Transfer to/(from) technical account 2,253 761 

Transfer to/(from) Statement of Other Comprehensive 

Income 

491 (386) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 29,329 26,585 
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18. Creditors and Accruals 

 

 

 

19. Capital Commitments 

 

At 31 December 2021 the Society had total commitments under non-cancellable operating 

leases: 

 

 

 

20. Board Members’ Transactions 

 

The majority of the Board of Management are Members of the Society and, therefore, make the 

appropriate contributions to applicable funds. The total contributions paid by such Members 

during their service on the Board were £2,351 (2020: £2,519). None of these contributions are 

material by size or nature to the relevant fund or the individual contributing Member. 

E D (Financial) Limited was paid £27,480 (2020: £13,260) for services provided during the year. 

The transactions made were under normal commercial terms. Mr N Silby and Ms E Fairless are 

directors of the company. 

 

  

 2021 2020 

 £’000 £’000 

 
Creditors arising out of direct insurance operation 

 

1,936 
 

1,455 

Accounts payable 14 26 

Other creditors - 3 
 1,950 1,484 

Land & Buildings   

 2021 2020 

Operating leases which expire £’000 £’000 

  not later than 1 year 97 105 

  later than 1 year, but less than 5 years - 97 

 97 202 
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21. Chief Actuary 

 

Statement by Function Holder: 

The Chief Actuary of the Society for the period 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 was S Dixon 

BA, FIA of SDA llp. 

 

1.  The Chief Actuary has: 

a. Never been a member of the Society 

b. No pecuniary interest in any transactions with the Society other than his interest 

as a member of SDA llp in respect of the amounts disclosed below 

c. Not received in 2021 and will not receive any other pecuniary benefits from the 

Society. 

 

2. Fees paid and accrued to SDA llp in relation to 2021 for the services provided by  

Mr S Dixon and his support team amounted to £179,992 (2020: £203,691). 

 

3. The Society requested and the Actuary furnished particulars specified under Section 77(2) 

of the Friendly Societies Act 1992 and the Society has identified such particulars. 

 

 

22. Technical Provisions 

 

The Technical Provisions have been calculated by the Chief Actuary with due regard to the 

requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) Rulebook for Solvency II firms. The 

key movements are as follows: 

 

 

The total movement in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of £3,207k (2020: £848k) is 

represented by the changes in the technical provisions above, £3,414k (2020: £946), less the net 

movements (premiums less claims) on investment linked contracts of £207k (2020: £98k). These 

movements are not included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   

                           2021 2020 

                          £’000 £’000 

 

Balance at 1 January 
 

49,453 

 

48,507 

Long term technical provision  (212) 3,495 

Technical provisions for linked liabilities 3,419 (2,647) 

Premium received less claims paid on investment linked contracts 207 98 

Balance at 31 December 52,867 49,453 
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For the Society’s with profit products, the Technical Provisions within the balance sheet are the 

total of the best estimate liability plus a risk margin. The best estimate liability is calculated by 

projecting, for each individual policy, the net monthly cash-flows and then discounting these net 

cash-flows back to the valuation date. The risk margin is the additional premium to ensure that 

the value of the Technical Provisions is equivalent to the amount that another insurer would be 

expected to require, to take over and meet the liabilities of the Society. 

For the Society’s unit-linked business, the Technical Provisions within the balance sheet is the 

value of the policy units as at the valuation date only. The Technical Provisions for solvency 

purposes is the value of the policy units plus the value-in-force plus the risk margin. 

More details of the calculation of the technical provisions are disclosed in Note 4.  

 

 

23. Pensions 

 

The Society operates both a Defined Benefit scheme and a Money Purchase pension scheme based on 

defined contributions. 

 

Money Purchase Scheme 

The defined contributions are matched rates of between 5% and 10% of the basic salary of qualifying 

Members. There are 12 active members in this scheme. 

 

Defined Benefit Scheme 

The Society operates a defined benefit pension scheme, the Transport Friendly Society Limited Staff 

Pension Scheme.  The scheme has 30 members, consisting of 10 pensioners, 16 deferred and 4 active 

members. The Scheme’s funds are administered by trustees and are independent of the Society’s 

finances. Contributions are paid to the Scheme in accordance with the recommendations of an 

independent actuary. Details in respect of the Scheme are provided below in accordance with FRS 102 

standard. 

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 December 2019 and has been updated to 

31 December 2021 by a qualified independent actuary from XPS Pensions. As required by FRS 102, the 

defined benefit liabilities have been measured using the projected unit method and both assets and 

liabilities include the value of pensions in payment. 

The Transport Friendly Society operates one defined benefit scheme in the UK which provides both 

pensions in retirement and death benefits to Members. Pension benefits are related to the Members’ 

revalued career averaged salary and their length of service. Since 6 September 2010 the scheme has been 

closed to new Members, but still remains open to the future accrual of benefits for existing Members. 

Contributions to the scheme for the year ending 31 December 2022 are expected to be approximately 

£29,000 (including approximately £7,000 in respect of member contributions). 
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The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms) as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Assumptions 2021 2020 

Price inflation (RPI) 3.25% pa 2.8% pa 

Price inflation (CPI) 2.80% pa 2.2% pa 

Discount rates 1.80% pa 1.3% pa 

Pension increases 2.80% pa 2.2% pa 

Salary growth 3.75% pa 3.3% pa 

Assumed life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are: 2021 2020 

Retiring today – Males 21.4 21.5 

Retiring today – Females 23.9 23.8 

Retiring in 20 years’ time – Males 22.7 24.5 

Retiring in 20 years’ time – Females 25.3 25.0 

 2021 2020 

The assets in the scheme were: £'000 £'000 

Equities 2,802 2,588 

Bonds 917 895 

Gilts & Cash 1,419 1,256 

Property & Alternatives 672 572 

Fair value of scheme assets 5,810 5,311 

 
The actual return on assets over the period was: 

 
601 

 
117 

 2021 2020 

 £'000 £'000 

Fair value of scheme assets 5,810 5,311 

Present value of funded obligations (4,713) (4,705) 

Surplus in funded scheme 1,097 606 

 2021 2020 

 £'000 £'000 

Present value of unfunded obligations - - 

Unrecognised past service cost - - 

Surplus/ (deficit) 1,097 606 

Irrecoverable surplus - - 

Net asset in the statement of financial position 1,097 606 
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Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair 

value of      scheme assets 
2021 2020 

 £'000 £'000 

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year 5,311 5,295 

Interest income on scheme assets 68 105 

Return on assets, excluding interest income 533 12 

Contributions by employer 21 21 

Contributions by scheme participants 7 7 

Benefits paid (113) (116) 

Scheme administrative cost (17) (13) 

Business combinations - - 

Settlements - - 

Exchange rate - - 

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 5,810 5,311 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation 

2021 2020 

 
£'000 £'000 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 4,705 4,303 

Current Service cost 34 23 

Interest cost 60 85 

Contributions by scheme participants 7 7 

Actuarial (gain)/losses 20 403 

Benefits paid (113) (116) 

Past service cost - - 

Settlements - - 

Curtailments - - 

Business combinations - - 

Exchange rate - - 

Benefit obligation at end of year 4,713 4,705 
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Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) to 
be shown in the statement of other comprehensive income: 

2021 2020 

 £'000 £'000 

Actuarial (gains)/losses on the liabilities 20 403 

Return on assets, excluding interest income (533) (12) 

Change in the amount of surplus that is not recoverable, excluding 

interest income 

- - 

Total re-measurement of the net defined benefit (asset)/liability to be 
shown in the statement of comprehensive income: 

    (513)* 391 

 
  

* The difference from the £491k (2020: £386k) stated in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income is made up as follows: 

  

Contributions from employer 
(21) (21) 

Pension scheme costs 
43 16 

 
22 (5) 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income: 

2021 2020 

 
£'000 £'000 

 

Service cost - including current service costs, past service costs and 
settlements 

 

34 

 

23 

Service cost - administrative cost 17 13 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (8) (20) 

Total expense 
43 16 
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Annual General Meeting  

(AGM) of the Society 
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Annual General Meeting 2022 
 

 

 

The Society’s next AGM is due to be held on Tuesday 14 June 2022 at Noon in Derbyshire House, 

St. Chad’s Street, London WC1H 8AG. The Agenda and papers can be obtained from the 

Registered Office or on the Society’s website. 

 

The Society intends to seek its Members’ votes and respond to their questions on all the issues 

that would normally form part of the AGM and further details of the 2022 arrangements will be 

available on the Society’s website: www.tfs.uk.com in the next few weeks. 

  

http://www.tfs.uk.com/
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Transport Friendly Society 

 

 
Head Office: 

Transport Friendly Society Limited 

3rd Floor, Derbyshire House, St Chad’s Street 

London, WC1H 8AG 

 

T: 020 7833 2616 

F: 020 7833 4426 

W: www.tfs.uk.com  

E: info@tfs.uk.com 

 

 

 

Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and Regulated 

by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority 
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